Published for SISSA by 2 Springer

RECEIVED: January 23, 2017 ACCEPTED: February 21, 2017 PUBLISHED: March 8, 2017

Marginal deformations of 3d supersymmetric U(N)model and broken higher spin symmetry

Yasuaki Hikida^{*a*} and Taiki Wada^{*b*}

E-mail: yhikida@yukawa.kyoto-u.ac.jp, rp0017xp@ed.ritsumei.ac.jp

ABSTRACT: We examine the marginal deformations of double-trace type in 3d supersymmetric U(N) model with N complex free bosons and fermions. We compute the anomalous dimensions of higher spin currents to the 1/N order but to all orders in the deformation parameters by mainly applying the conformal perturbation theory. The 3d field theory is supposed to be dual to 4d supersymmetric Vasiliev theory, and the marginal deformations are argued to correspond to modifying boundary conditions for bulk scalars and fermions. Thus the modification should break higher spin gauge symmetry and generate the masses of higher spin fields. We provide supports for the dual interpretation by relating bulk computation in terms of Witten diagrams to boundary one in conformal perturbation theory.

KEYWORDS: AdS-CFT Correspondence, Conformal Field Theory, Higher Spin Gravity, Higher Spin Symmetry

ARXIV EPRINT: 1701.03563





^a Center for Gravitational Physics, Yukawa Institute for Theoretical Physics, Kyoto University, Kyoto 606-8502, Japan

^bDepartment of Physical Sciences, College of Science and Engineering, Ritsumeikan University, Shiga 525-8577, Japan

Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	Preliminary	4
3	Deformation with bosonic operators	6
	3.1 Anomalous dimensions to the first non-trivial order	6
	3.2 Higher order corrections	7
	3.3 Introducing auxiliary fields	9
4	Deformation with fermionic operators	10
5	Bulk interpretations	13
	5.1 Bulk scalar propagators	13
	5.2 Bulk spinor propagators	15
6	Conclusion and discussions	18
\mathbf{A}	Evaluations of integral	19
	A.1 Deformation with bosonic operators	19
	A.2 Deformation with fermionic operators	21
в	Another method for anomalous dimensions	22
	B.1 Correction δV_s^{11}	24
	B.2 Correction δV_s^{22}	26
	B.3 Corrections δV_s^{12} and δV_s^{21}	28

1 Introduction

Conformal field theories (CFTs) with large N structure are quite important since they can be utilized to investigate holographic dual gravity theory among others. In particular, CFTs with higher spin symmetry broken in 1/N are useful to examine symmetry breaking in dual higher spin gauge theories. In [1, 2], the critical O(N) scalar model and the Gross-Neveu model [3, 4] in d dimensions were studied, and the anomalous dimensions of higher spin currents in these models were reproduced by applying the method of conformal perturbation theory. A famous example of higher spin gauge theory on AdS space is given by Vasiliev theory [5–7], and the two models are supposed to be holographic dual to the type A and type B Vasiliev theories [8–10]. The anomalous dimensions of higher spin currents correspond to the masses of higher spin fields, and the CFT computation in the conformal perturbation theory was interpreted from the bulk theory in terms of Witten diagrams. This paper addresses a continuation of these works.

Higher spin gauge theory is expected to describe superstring theory in the tensionless limit [11], and turning on string tension should correspond to breaking higher spin gauge symmetry. In [1, 2], the double-trace type deformations of free O(N) bosons and free U(N) fermions were examined, but there are only two fixed points, where one of them is free and the other is interacting with higher spin symmetry broken in 1/N. Since the string tension is a parameter of theory, it should be mapped to a marginal deformation of CFT dual to higher spin gauge theory. Therefore it is better to work on a model which has higher spin dual and admits marginal deformations. As a simple example, we examine $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supersymmetic U(N) model with N free complex scalars and fermions in three dimensions.¹ The model is proposed to be dual to a supersymmetric Vasiliev theory on AdS₄ [9, 10], and it admits deformations exactly marginal at least to the 1/N order.

We compute the anomalous dimensions of higher spin currents in the deformations of supersymmetric model to the 1/N order but to all orders in deformation parameters mainly with the help of conformal perturbation theory. Furthermore, we interpret the CFT computation in terms of bulk higher spin theory. Let us denote ϕ^i and ψ^i (i = 1, 2, ..., N) as the free complex bosons and fermions in the supersymmetric model. A marginal deformation of the theory is given by

$$\Delta_{\lambda}S = \lambda \int d^3x \mathcal{O}(x)\tilde{\mathcal{O}}(x) \tag{1.1}$$

with $\mathcal{O} = \bar{\phi}^i \phi_i$ and $\tilde{\mathcal{O}} = \bar{\psi}^i \psi_i$. The scalar operators are dual to bulk scalar fields, and the deformation corresponds to mixing the boundary conditions of these scalars [16]. Higher spin symmetry is broken with non-zero λ , and the anomalous dimensions of higher spin currents are obtained to the 1/N order but to all orders in λ , see (3.22) below. There is another type of marginal deformation as

$$\Delta_{\kappa}S = \kappa \int d^3x \bar{\mathcal{K}}(x) \mathcal{K}(x) \tag{1.2}$$

with $\mathcal{K} = \bar{\phi}^i \psi_i$ and $\bar{\mathcal{K}} = \bar{\psi}^i \phi_i$. The fermionic operators are dual to bulk fermionic fields, and the deformation corresponds to mixing the boundary conditions of these spinors. The anomalous dimensions of higher spin currents are computed to the 1/N order but to all orders in κ , see (4.19) below.² We can include both the deformations simultaneously, and supersymmetry is preserved when $2\lambda = \kappa$.³

¹Another type of examples are given by Chern-Simons-matter theories in three dimensions [12–14], and the anomalous dimensions of higher spin currents have been computed in [15] recently.

²The anomalous dimensions are computed in conformal perturbation theory up to the κ^2 order. Higher order corrections in κ are examined in a different method as used in [17] for the Gross-Neveu model in 1/*N*expansion. The method is enough to obtain the all order expression of anomalous dimensions. However, it is suitable to use the conformal perturbation theory if one wants to relate with dual higher spin theory.

³The condition can be derived by writing the marginal deformation preserving supersymmetry with superfields and expanding it in terms of component fields as was done in [9]. The same condition can be obtained also from the dual gravity theory. The boundary conditions of bulk scalars and spinors preserve supersymmetry when their deformation parameters are the same, see, e.g., [18]. The parameters correspond to $\tilde{\lambda}, \tilde{\kappa}$ in (3.14), (4.13), thus the condition is deduced from $\tilde{\lambda} = \tilde{\kappa}$.



Figure 1. One-loop Witten diagram for the two point function of dual higher spin current.



Figure 2. Bulk-to-bulk propagator along the loop may be replaced by the product of bulk-toboundary operators and boundary two point functions.

We adopt the conformal perturbation theory to compute the anomalous dimensions, which enables us to borrow the previous results in [1, 2]. The main reason to use the method is that the CFT computation can be understood in terms of bulk theory. The relation is known between the masses of higher spin fields and the anomalous dimensions of dual higher spin currents, which may be read off from two point function of the currents. The two point function is computable from the bulk theory through Witten diagrams and the contributions to anomalous dimensions arise from loop diagrams as in figure 1. However, the bulk one-loop computation is notoriously difficult in higher spin gauge theory as is well known for gravity theory with spin two gauge field.

In [1, 2] (based on previous works in [19–21]) the difficulty is evaded by utilizing the Witten's argument in [16] that deforming boundary theory by double-trace type operators is dual to changing the boundary condition of dual bulk fields. Once we admit the dictionary, the diagram with modified bulk-to-bulk propagators along the loop can be rewritten as a product of tree diagrams only with bulk-to-boundary propagators and boundary two point functions as in figure 2. Furthermore, we can see that the bulk computation with tree Witten diagrams is equivalent to the boundary one in the conformal perturbation theory to the 1/N order. Therefore, what we have to do is to show that the modification of bulk-to-bulk propagators can be written only in terms of bulk-to-boundary operators and boundary two point functions without relying the AdS/CFT dictionary. This was already done for the bulk scalar fields in [19–21]. For the holography with 3d O(N) scalars, it was applied in [1], and the same idea was already suggested in [20]. In this paper, we first

repeat the analysis of [21] in a slightly different way as was done in [19, 20], and then apply it to the case with bulk spinor fields.

The organization of this paper is as follows; in the next section, we introduce the supersymmetric model with free bosons and fermions, and write down our notation for higher spin currents. Then we explain how to read off the anomalous dimensions form two point functions of higher spin currents in conformal perturbation theory. In section 3, we compute the anomalous dimensions in the presence of deformation (1.1). We first obtain them to the λ^2 order and then incorporate higher order corrections. In subsection 3.3, we re-examine the model in the formulation with auxiliary fields. In section 4, we study the case with another marginal deformation (1.2). In section 5, we derive the map from the one-loop diagram as in figure 1 to a product of tree Witten diagrams as in figure 2. We first reproduce the known result with bulk scalar propagators and then extend the analysis to the case with bulk spinor propagators. Section 6 is devoted to conclusion and discussions. In appendices, the detailed computations of Feynman integrals are given.

2 Preliminary

We examine supersymmetric U(N) model in three dimensions consisting of N complex scalars ϕ^i and Dirac fermions ψ^i $(i = 1, 2, \dots, N)$. The free action is given by

$$S = \int d^3x \left[\partial_\mu \bar{\phi}^i \partial^\mu \phi_i + \bar{\psi}^i \partial \psi_i \right] \,, \tag{2.1}$$

where the Gamma matrices satisfy $\{\gamma^{\mu}, \gamma^{\nu}\} = 2g^{\mu\nu}$. Two point functions are

$$\langle \phi^i(x_1)\bar{\phi}^j(x_2)\rangle = C_{\phi}\frac{\delta^{ij}}{|x_{12}|}, \quad \langle \psi^i(x_1)\bar{\psi}^j(x_2)\rangle = -C_{\phi}\partial_1\frac{\delta^{ij}}{|x_{12}|}, \quad C_{\phi} = \frac{1}{4\pi}$$
(2.2)

in the coordinate representation and

in the momentum representation. Here and in the following we adopt the formula of Fourier transform as

$$\Phi(p) = \int \frac{d^3x}{(2\pi)^{3/2}} \Phi(x) e^{-ip \cdot x} \,. \tag{2.4}$$

In the current case, we should set $\Phi = \phi^i$ or ψ^i .

The free boson and fermion theories have conserved currents $J_{\mu_1\cdots\mu_s}$ and $J_{\mu_1\cdots\mu_s}$ with traceless symmetric indices. Introducing null polarization vector ϵ with $\epsilon \cdot \epsilon = 0$, we denote $J_s^{\epsilon}(x) = J_{\mu_1\cdots\mu_s}(x)\epsilon^{\mu_1}\cdots\epsilon^{\mu_s}$ and $\tilde{J}_s^{\epsilon}(x) = \tilde{J}_{\mu_1\cdots\mu_s}(x)\epsilon^{\mu_1}\cdots\epsilon^{\mu_s}$. For the explicit forms, we use the conventions in [22] as

$$J_{s}^{\epsilon}(x) = \sum_{k=0}^{s} a_{k} \hat{\partial}^{k} \bar{\phi}^{i} \hat{\partial}^{s-k} \phi_{i}, \qquad a_{k} = \frac{(-1)^{k}}{2} \frac{\binom{s}{k} \binom{s-1}{k-1/2}}{\binom{s-1}{-1/2}},$$
(2.5)

and

$$\tilde{J}_{s}^{\epsilon}(x) = \sum_{k=0}^{s-1} \tilde{a}_{k} \hat{\partial}^{k} \bar{\psi}^{i} \hat{\gamma} \hat{\partial}^{s-k-1} \psi_{i}, \qquad \tilde{a}_{k} = (-1)^{k} \frac{\binom{s-1}{k} \binom{s}{k+1/2}}{\binom{s}{1/2}}.$$
(2.6)

Here we have represented as

$$\hat{\partial} \equiv \epsilon \cdot \partial , \quad \hat{\gamma} \equiv \epsilon \cdot \gamma = \epsilon .$$
 (2.7)

With the expressions, the two point functions are computed as (see [2] and references therein)

$$D_0^s \equiv \langle J_s^\epsilon(x_1) J_s^\epsilon(x_2) \rangle = C_s \frac{(\hat{x}_{12})^{2s}}{(x_{12}^2)^{1+2s}}, \quad C_s = 2^{2s-2} N C_\phi^2 s \Gamma(2s), \quad (2.8)$$

and

$$\tilde{D}_0^s \equiv \langle \tilde{J}_s^\epsilon(x_1) \tilde{J}_s^\epsilon(x_2) \rangle = \tilde{C}_s \frac{(\hat{x}_{12})^{2s}}{(x_{12}^2)^{1+2s}}, \quad \tilde{C}_s = 2^{2s} N C_\phi^2 s^{-1} \Gamma(2s).$$
(2.9)

The relations

$$\tilde{C}_s = 2^2 s^{-2} C_s \quad \text{or} \quad \tilde{D}_0^s = 2^2 s^{-2} D_0^s$$
(2.10)

will be used for later analysis.

We deform the free action (2.1) by adding

$$\Delta_{\lambda,\kappa} S = \Delta_{\lambda} S + \Delta_{\kappa} S \,, \tag{2.11}$$

where $\Delta_{\lambda}S$ and $\Delta_{\kappa}S$ are given in (1.1) and (1.2), respectively. We treat the additional part in conformal perturbation theory as

$$\left\langle \prod_{a=1}^{n} \Phi_{a}(x_{a}) \right\rangle_{\lambda,\kappa} = \frac{\left\langle \prod_{a=1}^{n} \Phi_{a}(x_{a})e^{-\Delta_{\lambda,\kappa}S} \right\rangle_{0}}{\left\langle e^{-\Delta_{\lambda,\kappa}S} \right\rangle_{0}} \,. \tag{2.12}$$

Here Φ_a is an operator and the right hand side is computed in the free theory.

In the presence of deformations, the higher spin currents $J_s^{\epsilon}(x)$ and $\tilde{J}_s^{\epsilon}(x)$ are not conserved anymore and possess anomalous dimensions. We read off them from the two point functions of higher spin currents by using the modified correlators as in (2.12). In the current case, there are two types of higher spin currents, and we would meet a diagonalization problem to obtain the anomalous dimensions, see, e.g., [23]. Denoting two independent linear combinations as $J_s^{\epsilon,\alpha}(x)$ with $\alpha = 1, 2$, the two point functions are of the forms

$$\langle J_s^{\epsilon,\alpha}(x_1) J_s^{\epsilon,\beta}(x_2) \rangle_{\lambda,\kappa} = N_s^{\alpha\beta} \frac{(\hat{x}_{12})^{2s}}{(x_{12}^2)^{1+2s+\gamma_s^{\alpha\beta}}}, \qquad (2.13)$$

which are fixed by the symmetry. Here we have used $\hat{x}_{12} = \epsilon \cdot x_{12}$. We may change the basis for $J_s^{\epsilon,\alpha}(x)$ such that

$$N_s^{\alpha\beta} = \delta^{\alpha\beta} + n_s^{\alpha\beta} + \mathcal{O}(N^{-2}), \quad N_s^{\alpha\beta}\gamma_s^{\alpha\beta} = \delta^{\alpha\beta}\gamma_s^{\alpha} + \mathcal{O}(N^{-2})$$
(2.14)

with $n_s^{\alpha\beta}, \gamma_s^{\alpha}$ of order 1/N. Then the two point functions become

$$\langle J_s^{\epsilon,\alpha}(x_1) J_s^{\epsilon,\beta}(x_2) \rangle_{\lambda,\kappa} = \delta^{\alpha\beta} \frac{(\hat{x}_{12})^{2s}}{(x_{12}^2)^{1+2s}} - \delta^{\alpha\beta} \gamma_s^{\alpha} \frac{(\hat{x}_{12})^{2s}}{(x_{12}^2)^{1+2s}} \log(x_{12}^2) + n_s^{\alpha\beta} \frac{(\hat{x}_{12})^{2s}}{(x_{12}^2)^{1+2s}} + \mathcal{O}(N^{-2}).$$
(2.15)

Therefore, the anomalous dimension γ_s^{α} of $J_s^{\epsilon,\alpha}$ to the 1/N order can be read off from the factor in front of $\log(x_{12}^2)$.

3 Deformation with bosonic operators

In this section we deform the supersymmetric model by (1.1) and compute the anomalous dimensions of higher spin currents. We first study them to the first non-trivial order in the deformation parameter λ in the next subsection and then systematically include higher order corrections in subsection 3.2. In subsection 3.3, we rewrite the deformed action by introducing auxiliary fields, and examine the relations to previous works on the critical O(N) scalars and the Gross-Neveu model such as in [2, 24].

3.1 Anomalous dimensions to the first non-trivial order

We deform the free theory by the marginal deformation in (1.1). The two point functions of the scalar operators $\mathcal{O}(x) = \bar{\phi}^i \phi_i$ and $\tilde{\mathcal{O}}(x) = \bar{\psi}^i \psi_i$ at $\lambda = 0$ are given by

$$\langle \mathcal{O}(x_1)\mathcal{O}(x_2)\rangle_0 = \frac{NC_{\phi}^2}{x_{12}^2}, \quad \langle \tilde{\mathcal{O}}(x_1)\tilde{\mathcal{O}}(x_2)\rangle_0 = \frac{2NC_{\phi}^2}{(x_{12}^2)^2}.$$
 (3.1)

We would like to compute the two point functions of higher spin currents in the presence of marginal deformation. The modified correlators in (2.12) to the first non-trivial orders both in λ and 1/N are

$$\langle J_s^{\epsilon}(x_1) J_s^{\epsilon}(x_2) \rangle_{\lambda} = \langle J_s^{\epsilon}(x_1) J_s^{\epsilon}(x_2) \rangle_0 + \lambda^2 I_1 + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^4) , \qquad (3.2)$$

$$\langle \tilde{J}_s^{\epsilon}(x_1)\tilde{J}_s^{\epsilon}(x_2)\rangle_{\lambda} = \langle \tilde{J}_s^{\epsilon}(x_1)\tilde{J}_s^{\epsilon}(x_2)\rangle_0 + \lambda^2 I_2 + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^4), \qquad (3.3)$$

$$\langle J_s^{\epsilon}(x_1)\tilde{J}_s^{\epsilon}(x_2)\rangle_{\lambda} = \lambda^2 I_3 + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^4).$$
(3.4)

Here I_1 , I_2 , and I_3 are defined by the following integrals as

$$I_1 = \frac{1}{2} \int d^3 x_3 d^3 x_4 \langle J_s^{\epsilon}(x_1) J_s^{\epsilon}(x_2) \mathcal{O}(x_3) \mathcal{O}(x_4) \rangle_0 \langle \tilde{\mathcal{O}}(x_3) \tilde{\mathcal{O}}(x_4) \rangle_0 , \qquad (3.5)$$

$$I_2 = \frac{1}{2} \int d^3 x_3 d^3 x_4 \langle \tilde{J}_s^{\epsilon}(x_1) \tilde{J}_s^{\epsilon}(x_2) \tilde{\mathcal{O}}(x_3) \tilde{\mathcal{O}}(x_4) \rangle_0 \langle \mathcal{O}(x_3) \mathcal{O}(x_4) \rangle_0 , \qquad (3.6)$$

$$I_3 = \frac{1}{2} \int d^3 x_3 d^3 x_4 \langle J_s^{\epsilon}(x_1) \mathcal{O}(x_3) \mathcal{O}(x_4) \rangle_0 \langle \tilde{J}_s^{\epsilon}(x_2) \tilde{\mathcal{O}}(x_3) \tilde{\mathcal{O}}(x_4) \rangle_0 \,. \tag{3.7}$$

In order to read off the anomalous dimensions, we need to extract terms proportional to $\log(x_{12}^2)$ from the integrals. Such terms from the above integrals have been already obtained in [1, 2], so we can just borrow the results there. See appendix A.1 for details.

As explained in the previous section, we need to solve the diagonalization problem to obtain the anomalous dimensions by choosing a proper linear combination of currents to satisfying the conditions (2.14). In the present case, the proper choice turns out to be

$$J_s^{\epsilon,\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2C_s}} J_s^{\epsilon} \pm \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\tilde{C}_s}} \tilde{J}_s^{\epsilon} \,. \tag{3.8}$$

The two point functions of these currents are

$$\langle J_s^{\epsilon,\pm}(x_1) J_s^{\epsilon,\pm}(x_2) \rangle_{\lambda}$$

$$= \langle J_s^{\epsilon,\pm}(x_1) J_s^{\epsilon,\pm}(x_2) \rangle_0 + \lambda^2 \left[\frac{1}{2C_s} I_1 + \frac{1}{2\tilde{C}_s} I_2 \pm \frac{s}{2C_s} I_3 \right] + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^4) , \qquad (3.9)$$

where we have used a relation in (2.10). Using the results in appendix A.1, the anomalous dimensions to the λ^2 order and to the leading order in the 1/N-expansion are read off as⁴

$$\gamma_s^{\pm} = \frac{\lambda^2 N}{12\pi^2} \frac{(s-1)(s+1)}{(2s-1)(2s+1)} \mp \mathcal{P}_s \frac{\lambda^2 N}{8\pi^2} \frac{s}{(2s-1)(2s+1)} + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^4)$$
(3.10)

with

$$\mathcal{P}_s = \frac{1 + (-1)^s}{2} \,. \tag{3.11}$$

Thus we have

$$\gamma_s^{\pm} = \frac{\lambda^2 N}{12\pi^2} \frac{(s-1)(s+1)}{(2s-1)(2s+1)} + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^4)$$
(3.12)

for odd s and

$$\gamma_s^{\pm} = \frac{\lambda^2 N}{24\pi^2} \frac{s \mp 2}{2s \mp 1} + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^4)$$
(3.13)

for even s. Here $J_1^{\epsilon,\pm}$ correspond to spin 1 currents for global symmetry $U(1) \otimes U(1) \in U(N) \otimes U(N)$, which are not broken by the deformation as $\gamma_1^{\pm} = 0$. Moreover, $J_2^{\epsilon,\pm}$ corresponds to the energy momentum tensor, and hence we have $\gamma_2^{\pm} = 0$.

3.2 Higher order corrections

We would like to move to the higher order corrections in the λ -expansion. A large part of corrections can be incorporated simply by replacing the parameter λ^2 in (3.12) and (3.13) by, say, $\lambda^2/(1+\tilde{\lambda}^2)$ with

$$\tilde{\lambda} = \frac{N}{8}\lambda. \tag{3.14}$$

However, not all of the corrections can be treated in this way, and new integrals should be evaluated as well.

A type of correction can be summarized by the replacements of $\langle \tilde{\mathcal{O}}(x_3)\tilde{\mathcal{O}}(x_4)\rangle_0$ in (3.5) by $\langle \tilde{\mathcal{O}}(x_3)\tilde{\mathcal{O}}(x_4)\rangle_\lambda$ and $\langle \mathcal{O}(x_3)\mathcal{O}(x_4)\rangle_0$ in (3.6) by $\langle \mathcal{O}(x_3)\mathcal{O}(x_4)\rangle_\lambda$. In the momentum representation, the two point functions (3.1) at $\lambda = 0$ become

$$G(p) = \langle \mathcal{O}(p)\mathcal{O}(-p)\rangle_0 = \frac{N}{8}\frac{1}{|p|}, \quad \tilde{G}(p) = \langle \tilde{\mathcal{O}}(p)\tilde{\mathcal{O}}(-p)\rangle_0 = -\frac{N}{8}|p|.$$
(3.15)

Therefore, at finite λ , the two point functions become

$$\langle \mathcal{O}(p)\mathcal{O}(-p)\rangle_{\lambda} = G(p) + \lambda^2 G(p)\tilde{G}(p)G(p) + \lambda^4 G(p)\tilde{G}(p)G(p)\tilde{G}(p)G(p) + \cdots$$

= $G(p)(1 - \tilde{\lambda}^2 + \tilde{\lambda}^4 - \cdots) = G(p)\frac{1}{1 + \tilde{\lambda}^2},$ (3.16)

⁴As in (3.14) below, a convenient parameter is not λ but $\tilde{\lambda} = N\lambda/8$. Therefore, we take large N but keep $\tilde{\lambda}$ finite. In this sense, the expressions in (3.10) are of the 1/N order and of the $\tilde{\lambda}^2$ order.

and similarly

$$\langle \tilde{\mathcal{O}}(p) \tilde{\mathcal{O}}(p) \rangle_{\lambda} = \tilde{G}(p) \frac{1}{1 + \tilde{\lambda}^2} \,.$$

Therefore, the corrections of this type simply replace $\tilde{\lambda}^2$ by $\tilde{\lambda}^2/(1+\tilde{\lambda}^2)$. For (3.7) we may rewrite as

$$\lambda^{2} I_{3} = \frac{\lambda^{2}}{2} \int d^{3} x_{3} d^{3} x_{4} d^{3} x_{5} d^{3} x_{6} \langle J_{s}^{\epsilon}(x_{1}) \mathcal{O}(x_{3}) \mathcal{O}(x_{4}) \rangle_{0} \langle \tilde{J}_{s}^{\epsilon}(x_{2}) \tilde{\mathcal{O}}(x_{5}) \tilde{\mathcal{O}}(x_{6}) \rangle_{0} \\ \times \delta^{(3)}(x_{35}) \delta^{(3)}(x_{46}) \,. \tag{3.17}$$

Higher order corrections modify the delta functions (or the identities in the momentum representation) as

$$1 + \lambda^2 G(p)\tilde{G}(p) + \lambda^4 G(p)\tilde{G}(p)G(p)\tilde{G}(p) + \dots = \frac{1}{1 + \tilde{\lambda}^2}.$$
 (3.18)

This means that we should replace each $\tilde{\lambda}$ by $\tilde{\lambda}/(1+\tilde{\lambda}^2)$, i.e., $\tilde{\lambda}^2$ by $(\tilde{\lambda}/(1+\tilde{\lambda}^2))^2$.

At the λ^4 order, we can see that the following new types of integral appear as

$$I_{4} = \frac{1}{2} \int d^{3}x_{3}d^{3}x_{4}d^{3}x_{5}d^{3}x_{6} \langle J_{s}^{\epsilon}(x_{1})\mathcal{O}(x_{3})\mathcal{O}(x_{4})\rangle_{0} \langle J_{s}^{\epsilon}(x_{2})\mathcal{O}(x_{5})\mathcal{O}(x_{6})\rangle_{0} \qquad (3.19)$$

$$\times \langle \tilde{\mathcal{O}}(x_{3})\tilde{\mathcal{O}}(x_{5})\rangle_{0} \langle \tilde{\mathcal{O}}(x_{4})\tilde{\mathcal{O}}(x_{6})\rangle_{0} ,$$

$$I_{5} = \frac{1}{2} \int d^{3}x_{3}d^{3}x_{4}d^{3}x_{5}d^{3}x_{6} \langle \tilde{J}_{s}^{\epsilon}(x_{1})\tilde{\mathcal{O}}(x_{3})\tilde{\mathcal{O}}(x_{4})\rangle_{0} \langle \tilde{J}_{s}^{\epsilon}(x_{2})\tilde{\mathcal{O}}(x_{5})\tilde{\mathcal{O}}(x_{6})\rangle_{0} \qquad (3.20)$$

$$\times \langle \mathcal{O}(x_{3})\mathcal{O}(x_{5})\rangle_{0} \langle \mathcal{O}(x_{4})\mathcal{O}(x_{6})\rangle_{0} .$$

The integrals have been already evaluated in [2], and we use the results, see appendix A.1. Further higher order corrections in λ replace $\langle \tilde{\mathcal{O}}(x_3)\tilde{\mathcal{O}}(x_4)\rangle_0$ with $\langle \tilde{\mathcal{O}}(x_3)\tilde{\mathcal{O}}(x_4)\rangle_{\lambda}$ in (3.19) (and similarly for (3.20)) as before.

Summarizing the above analysis, the two point functions of higher spin currents at finite λ can be given by

$$\langle J_s^{\epsilon,\pm}(x_1) J_s^{\epsilon,\pm}(x_2) \rangle_{\lambda} = \langle J_s^{\epsilon,\pm}(x_1) J_s^{\epsilon,\pm}(x_2) \rangle_0 + \left(\frac{8}{N}\right)^2 \frac{\tilde{\lambda}^2}{1+\tilde{\lambda}^2} \left[\frac{1}{2C_s} I_1 + \frac{1}{2\tilde{C}_s} I_2\right]$$

$$\pm \left(\frac{8}{N}\right)^2 \left(\frac{\tilde{\lambda}}{1+\tilde{\lambda}^2}\right)^2 \frac{s}{2C_s} I_3 + \left(\frac{8}{N}\right)^4 \left(\frac{\tilde{\lambda}^2}{1+\tilde{\lambda}^2}\right)^2 \left[\frac{1}{2C_s} I_4 + \frac{1}{2\tilde{C}_s} I_5\right], \quad (3.21)$$

where we can still use the linear combinations in (3.8). Referring to the results in appendix A.1, the anomalous dimensions to the 1/N order are thus⁵

$$\gamma_s^{\pm} = \frac{16}{3N\pi^2} \frac{\tilde{\lambda}^2}{1+\tilde{\lambda}^2} \frac{(s-1)(s+1)}{(2s-1)(2s+1)} + \mathcal{P}_s \frac{8}{N\pi^2} \left[\mp \left(\frac{\tilde{\lambda}}{1+\tilde{\lambda}^2}\right)^2 - \left(\frac{\tilde{\lambda}^2}{1+\tilde{\lambda}^2}\right)^2 \right] \frac{s}{(2s-1)(2s+1)} \,. \tag{3.22}$$

⁵In CFTs with higher spin symmetry broken in 1/N, broken symmetry still provides quite strong constraints on correlators as shown in [14]. The dependence on the deformation parameter $\tilde{\lambda}$ in (3.22) may be explained by using broken symmetry as was done in [15] for similar parameter dependence in Chern-Simons matter theories. The same argument can be applied to (4.19) as well.

This is a main finding in this paper. Setting s = 1, we obtain $\gamma_1^{\pm} = 0$, thus the global $U(1) \otimes U(1) \in U(N) \otimes U(N)$ symmetry is not broken to the full orders in $\tilde{\lambda}$. For γ_s^+ with even s, we can rewrite as

$$\gamma_s^+ = \frac{8}{3N\pi^2} \frac{\lambda^2}{1+\tilde{\lambda}^2} \frac{s-2}{2s-1} \,. \tag{3.23}$$

In particular, we have $\gamma_2^+ = 0$, and this means that the deformation (1.1) is exactly marginal to the 1/N order.

It is useful to examine the results (3.22) in the limit $\tilde{\lambda} \to \infty$, which are given as

$$\gamma_s^{\pm} \to \frac{16}{3N\pi^2} \frac{(s-1)(s+1)}{(2s-1)(2s+1)} - \mathcal{P}_s \frac{8}{N\pi^2} \frac{s}{(2s-1)(2s+1)} \,. \tag{3.24}$$

The limit of supersymmetric model should correspond to the sum of the critical U(N) vector model and the Gross-Neveu model. This can be seen both from CFT viewpoint as in the next subsection and from the dual gravity theory as in [9, 10], see also section 5. The anomalous dimensions for the critical U(N) model can be found in [2] with a slight modification of O(N) case in [25], and those for the Gross-Neveu model were computed in [17]. See [26–28] for recent related works. Comparing these results and (3.24), we find agreements.

3.3 Introducing auxiliary fields

In this subsection, we describe the deformation of supersymmetric model by (1.1) as

$$S = \int d^3x \left[\partial_\mu \bar{\phi}^i \partial^\mu \phi_i + \bar{\psi}^i \partial \!\!\!/ \psi_i + \tilde{\sigma} \mathcal{O} + \sigma \tilde{\mathcal{O}} - \frac{1}{\lambda} \sigma \tilde{\sigma} \right] \,, \tag{3.25}$$

where we have introduced auxiliary fields $\sigma, \tilde{\sigma}$. We may study the model by treating the last term in (3.25) perturbatively. It is useful to move to this formulation for the purpose to see more direct relations to previous works as in [2, 24]. This is because the last term in (3.25) vanishes at $\lambda \to \infty$ limit, where the theory reduces to the sum of the critical U(N) model and the Gross-Neveu model.

Using the large N factorization of \mathcal{O} and $\tilde{\mathcal{O}}$, the effective propagators for $\sigma, \tilde{\sigma}$ become (see, e.g., [24])

$$G_{\sigma}(p) = \langle \sigma(p)\sigma(-p) \rangle_0 = (-\langle \mathcal{O}(p)\mathcal{O}(-p) \rangle_0)^{-1} = -\frac{8}{N}|p|, \qquad (3.26)$$

$$G_{\tilde{\sigma}}(p) = \langle \tilde{\sigma}(p)\tilde{\sigma}(-p)\rangle_0 = (-\langle \tilde{\mathcal{O}}(p)\tilde{\mathcal{O}}(-p)\rangle_0)^{-1} = \frac{8}{N}\frac{1}{|p|}.$$
(3.27)

At the limit $\lambda \to \infty$, corrections to the two point functions of higher spin currents come from the integrals I_1, I_2, I_4, I_5 in (3.5), (3.6), (3.19), (3.20) but with $\langle \tilde{\mathcal{O}}\tilde{\mathcal{O}}\rangle_0, \langle \mathcal{O}\mathcal{O}\rangle_0$ replaced by $\langle \sigma\sigma\rangle_0, \langle \tilde{\sigma}\tilde{\sigma}\rangle_0$. This can be seen from (3.21) at $\tilde{\lambda} \to \infty$, for instance. The regularization with Δ used in the appendix A.1 may be understood by the shifts of exponents as

$$G_{\sigma}(p) = \langle \sigma(p)\sigma(-p) \rangle_0 = -\frac{8}{N} \frac{1}{(p^2)^{-1/2 + \Delta_1}}, \qquad (3.28)$$

$$G_{\tilde{\sigma}}(p) = \langle \tilde{\sigma}(p)\tilde{\sigma}(-p)\rangle_0 = \frac{8}{N} \frac{1}{(p^2)^{1/2+\Delta_2}}, \qquad (3.29)$$

where we should set Δ_1 , Δ_2 properly.

Higher order corrections in $1/\lambda$ can be understood also in this formulation. Here we set $\Delta_1 + \Delta_2 = 0$ for simplicity, but it is not so difficult to work with $\Delta_1 + \Delta_2 \neq 0$. Due to the last term in (3.25), the effective propagators should be corrected as

$$\langle \sigma(p)\sigma(-p)\rangle_{1/\lambda} = G_{\sigma}(p) + \lambda^{-2}G_{\sigma}(p)G_{\sigma}(p)G_{\sigma}(p) + \dots = \frac{1}{1+\tilde{\lambda}^{-2}}G_{\sigma}(p), \qquad (3.30)$$

$$\langle \tilde{\sigma}(p)\tilde{\sigma}(-p)\rangle_{1/\lambda} = G_{\tilde{\sigma}}(p) + \lambda^{-2}G_{\tilde{\sigma}}(p)G_{\sigma}(p)G_{\tilde{\sigma}}(p) + \dots = \frac{1}{1+\tilde{\lambda}^{-2}}G_{\tilde{\sigma}}(p).$$
(3.31)

Replacing $\langle \sigma \sigma \rangle_0, \langle \tilde{\sigma} \tilde{\sigma} \rangle_0$ by $\langle \sigma \sigma \rangle_{1/\lambda}, \langle \tilde{\sigma} \tilde{\sigma} \rangle_{1/\lambda}$, we reproduce the previous result in (3.21) except for the contribution arising from the integral of I_3 -type.

The integral of I_3 -type contributes from the $1/\lambda^2$ order. This type of correction is absent for the model made from simply the sum of the critical U(N) scalars and the Gross-Neveu model. At the order, the integral can be written as⁶

$$I_{3}^{\prime} = \frac{1}{2\lambda^{2}} \int \prod_{n=3}^{8} d^{3}x_{n} \langle J_{s}^{\epsilon}(x_{1})\mathcal{O}(x_{3})\mathcal{O}(x_{4}) \rangle_{0} \langle \tilde{J}_{s}^{\epsilon}(x_{2})\tilde{\mathcal{O}}(x_{7})\tilde{\mathcal{O}}(x_{8}) \rangle_{0}$$

$$\times \langle \sigma(x_{3})\sigma(x_{5}) \rangle_{0} \langle \tilde{\sigma}(x_{5})\tilde{\sigma}(x_{7}) \rangle_{0} \langle \sigma(x_{4})\sigma(x_{6}) \rangle_{0} \langle \tilde{\sigma}(x_{6})\tilde{\sigma}(x_{8}) \rangle_{0} .$$

$$(3.32)$$

For $\Delta_1 + \Delta_2 = 0$, we have

$$\int d^3x_5 \langle \sigma(x_3)\sigma(x_5)\rangle_0 \langle \tilde{\sigma}(x_5)\tilde{\sigma}(x_7)\rangle_0 = -\left(\frac{8}{N}\right)^2 \delta^{(3)}(x_{37}), \qquad (3.33)$$

and similarly for the x_6 -integral. Using these delta functions, we can see that I'_3 reduces to I_3 . The higher order corrections can be included by replacing 1 by $1/(1 + \tilde{\lambda}^{-2})$ as shown above. Noticing

$$\frac{1}{\lambda^2} \left(\frac{1}{1+\tilde{\lambda}^{-2}} \right)^2 = \left(\frac{N}{8} \right)^2 \left(\frac{\tilde{\lambda}}{1+\tilde{\lambda}^2} \right)^2, \qquad (3.34)$$

the contribution from this type of integral in (3.21) can be also reproduced.

4 Deformation with fermionic operators

The supersymmetric model admits another marginal deformation as in (1.2) along with the one in (1.1), which was examined in the previous section. In this section, we compute the anomalous dimensions of higher spin currents in the deformed theory by (1.2). We may use both the deformations simultaneously such as the supersymmetric one with $2\lambda = \kappa$. In that case we just need to add each contribution to anomalous dimensions.

The deformation (1.2) consists of spinor operator $\mathcal{K} = \bar{\phi}^i \psi_i$ ($\bar{\mathcal{K}} = \bar{\psi}^i \phi_i$), whose two point function is

$$\langle \mathcal{K}(x_1)\bar{\mathcal{K}}(x_2)\rangle_0 = N C_{\phi}^2 \frac{\not{x}_{12}}{(x_{12}^2)^2} = -\frac{N C_{\phi}^2}{2} \partial_1 \frac{1}{x_{12}^2}$$
(4.1)

⁶The shifts by Δ for the integral I_3 may be interpreted as the extra shifts introduced in section 3.3 of [2].

at $\kappa = 0$. We compute the two point functions of higher spin currents in the presence of marginal deformation. The modified correlators (2.12) to the first non-trivial orders both in κ and 1/N are

$$\langle J_s^{\epsilon}(x_1) J_s^{\epsilon}(x_2) \rangle_{\kappa} = \langle J_s^{\epsilon}(x_1) J_s^{\epsilon}(x_2) \rangle_0 + \kappa^2 (\tilde{I}_1 + \tilde{I}_2) + \mathcal{O}(\kappa^4) , \qquad (4.2)$$

$$\langle \tilde{J}_{s}^{\epsilon}(x_{1})\tilde{J}_{s}^{\epsilon}(x_{2})\rangle_{\kappa} = \langle \tilde{J}_{s}^{\epsilon}(x_{1})\tilde{J}_{s}^{\epsilon}(x_{2})\rangle_{0} + \kappa^{2}(\tilde{I}_{3} + \tilde{I}_{4}) + \mathcal{O}(\kappa^{4}), \qquad (4.3)$$

$$\langle J_s^{\epsilon}(x_1)\tilde{J}_s^{\epsilon}(x_2)\rangle_{\kappa} = \kappa^2(\tilde{I}_5 + \tilde{I}_6) + \mathcal{O}(\kappa^4).$$

$$(4.4)$$

Here \tilde{I}_a (a = 1, ..., 6) are integrals defined as

$$\tilde{I}_1 = -\int d^3 x_3 d^3 x_4 \langle J_s^{\epsilon}(x_1) J_s^{\epsilon}(x_2) \mathcal{K}(x_3) \bar{\mathcal{K}}(x_4) \rangle_0 \langle \mathcal{K}(x_4) \bar{\mathcal{K}}(x_3) \rangle_0 , \qquad (4.5)$$

$$\tilde{I}_2 = -\int d^3 x_3 d^3 x_4 \langle J_s^{\epsilon}(x_1) \mathcal{K}(x_3) \bar{\mathcal{K}}(x_4) \rangle_0 \langle J_s^{\epsilon}(x_2) \mathcal{K}(x_4) \bar{\mathcal{K}}(x_3) \rangle_0, \qquad (4.6)$$

$$\tilde{I}_3 = -\int d^3 x_3 d^3 x_4 \langle \tilde{J}_s^{\epsilon}(x_1) \tilde{J}_s^{\epsilon}(x_2) \mathcal{K}(x_3) \bar{\mathcal{K}}(x_4) \rangle_0 \langle \mathcal{K}(x_4) \bar{\mathcal{K}}(x_3) \rangle_0 , \qquad (4.7)$$

$$\tilde{I}_4 = -\int d^3 x_3 d^3 x_4 \langle \tilde{J}_s^{\epsilon}(x_1) \mathcal{K}(x_3) \bar{\mathcal{K}}(x_4) \rangle_0 \langle \tilde{J}_s^{\epsilon}(x_2) \mathcal{K}(x_4) \bar{\mathcal{K}}(x_3) \rangle_0 , \qquad (4.8)$$

$$\tilde{I}_5 = -\int d^3 x_3 d^3 x_4 \langle J_s^{\epsilon}(x_1) \tilde{J}_s^{\epsilon}(x_2) \mathcal{K}(x_3) \bar{\mathcal{K}}(x_4) \rangle_0 \langle \mathcal{K}(x_4) \bar{\mathcal{K}}(x_3) \rangle_0 , \qquad (4.9)$$

$$\tilde{I}_6 = -\int d^3 x_3 d^3 x_4 \langle J_s^{\epsilon}(x_1) \mathcal{K}(x_3) \bar{\mathcal{K}}(x_4) \rangle_0 \langle \tilde{J}_s^{\epsilon}(x_2) \mathcal{K}(x_4) \bar{\mathcal{K}}(x_3) \rangle_0 \,. \tag{4.10}$$

These integrals actually coincide with those evaluated in [2], so we can utilize the results obtained there as summarized in appendix A.2. The anomalous dimensions of higher spin currents can be computed as in the previous section, and the results happen to be the same as (3.10) but λ replaced by κ .

Higher order corrections in κ can be included as in subsection 3.2. One type of corrections can be incorporated by replacing $\langle \mathcal{K}(x_4)\bar{\mathcal{K}}(x_3)\rangle_0$ in \tilde{I}_1 , \tilde{I}_3 , \tilde{I}_5 by $\langle \mathcal{K}(x_4)\bar{\mathcal{K}}(x_3)\rangle_{\kappa}$. In the momentum representation, the two point function (4.1) becomes

$$F(p) \equiv \langle \mathcal{K}(p)\bar{\mathcal{K}}(-p)\rangle_0 = -\frac{N}{16}\frac{ip}{|p|}.$$
(4.11)

Thus the two point function receives corrections at finite κ as

$$\langle \mathcal{K}(p)\bar{\mathcal{K}}(-p)\rangle_{\kappa} = F(p) + \kappa F(p)^2 + \kappa^2 F(p)^3 + \dots = F(p,\kappa)^o + F(p,\kappa)^e \,. \tag{4.12}$$

Here $F(p,\kappa)^o$ linearly depends on the gamma matrix but $F(p,\kappa)^e$ does not as

$$F(p,\kappa)^o = F(p)\frac{1}{1+\tilde{\kappa}^2}, \quad F(p,\kappa)^e = \frac{N}{16}\frac{\tilde{\kappa}}{1+\tilde{\kappa}^2}, \quad \tilde{\kappa} = \frac{N}{16}\kappa.$$
(4.13)

Noticing that trace over the odd number of gamma matrix vanishes, corrections to the integrals \tilde{I}_1 , \tilde{I}_3 , \tilde{I}_5 can be included by replacing F(p) by $F(p,\kappa)^o$. Therefore we should replace $\tilde{\kappa}^2$ by $\tilde{\kappa}^2/(1+\tilde{\kappa}^2)$. Similarly, for \tilde{I}_2 , \tilde{I}_4 , \tilde{I}_6 , we replace 1 in the momentum representation by

$$1 + \kappa^2 F(p)^2 + \kappa^4 F(p)^4 + \dots = \frac{1}{1 + \tilde{\kappa}^2}.$$
(4.14)

This means that we should replace $\tilde{\kappa}^2$ by $(\tilde{\kappa}/(1+\tilde{\kappa}^2))^2$.

– 11 –

At the order of κ^4 , there are new types of correction appearing as

$$\tilde{I}_{7} = -\int d^{3}x_{3}d^{3}x_{4}d^{3}x_{5}d^{3}x_{6}\langle J_{s}^{\epsilon}(x_{1})\mathcal{K}(x_{3})\bar{\mathcal{K}}(x_{4})\rangle_{0}\langle \mathcal{K}(x_{4})\bar{\mathcal{K}}(x_{5})\rangle_{0} \qquad (4.15)$$

$$\times \langle J_{s}^{\epsilon}(x_{2})\mathcal{K}(x_{5})\bar{\mathcal{K}}(x_{6})\rangle_{0}\langle \mathcal{K}(x_{6})\bar{\mathcal{K}}(x_{3})\rangle_{0}, \qquad (4.16)$$

$$\times \langle \tilde{J}_{s}^{\epsilon}(x_{2})\mathcal{K}(x_{5})\bar{\mathcal{K}}(x_{6})\rangle_{0}\langle \mathcal{K}(x_{6})\bar{\mathcal{K}}(x_{3})\rangle_{0}, \qquad (4.16)$$

$$\times \langle \tilde{J}_{s}^{\epsilon}(x_{2})\mathcal{K}(x_{5})\bar{\mathcal{K}}(x_{6})\rangle_{0}\langle \mathcal{K}(x_{6})\bar{\mathcal{K}}(x_{3})\rangle_{0}, \qquad (4.17)$$

$$\times \langle \tilde{J}_{s}^{\epsilon}(x_{2})\mathcal{K}(x_{5})\bar{\mathcal{K}}(x_{6})\rangle_{0}\langle \mathcal{K}(x_{6})\bar{\mathcal{K}}(x_{3})\rangle_{0}. \qquad (4.17)$$

Further higher order corrections in κ can be included by replacing $\tilde{\kappa}^4$ with $(\tilde{\kappa}^2/(1+\tilde{\kappa}^2))^2$. These integrals have not appeared in [2], so we have to analyze them in some way. There are several methods to evaluate these integrals, for instance, as in [24]. In appendix B, we do not directly compute these integrals but rather evaluate different ones which are closely related. Using the relation between them, we deduce the $\log(x_{12}^2)$ dependence of the integrals as in (B.9), (B.10), and (B.11).

From the above arguments, we conclude that the two point functions of higher spin current are corrected as

$$\langle J_{s}^{\epsilon,\pm}(x_{1})J_{s}^{\epsilon,\pm}(x_{2})\rangle_{\kappa} = \langle J_{s}^{\epsilon,\pm}(x_{1})J_{s}^{\epsilon,\pm}(x_{2})\rangle_{0} + \left(\frac{16}{N}\right)^{2}\frac{\tilde{\kappa}^{2}}{1+\tilde{\kappa}^{2}}\left[\frac{1}{2C_{s}}\tilde{I}_{1} + \frac{1}{2\tilde{C}_{s}}\tilde{I}_{3}\right]$$
(4.18)

$$+ \left(\frac{16}{N}\right)^{2}\left(\frac{\tilde{\kappa}}{1+\tilde{\kappa}^{2}}\right)^{2}\left[\frac{1}{2C_{s}}\tilde{I}_{2} + \frac{1}{2\tilde{C}_{s}}\tilde{I}_{4}\right] \pm \left(\frac{16}{N}\right)^{2}\left[\frac{\tilde{\kappa}^{2}}{1+\tilde{\kappa}^{2}}\frac{s}{2C_{s}}\tilde{I}_{5} + \left(\frac{\tilde{\kappa}}{1+\tilde{\kappa}^{2}}\right)^{2}\frac{s}{2C_{s}}\tilde{I}_{6}\right]$$
$$+ \left(\frac{16}{N}\right)^{4}\left(\frac{\tilde{\kappa}^{2}}{1+\tilde{\kappa}^{2}}\right)^{2}\left[\frac{1}{2C_{s}}\tilde{I}_{7} + \frac{1}{2\tilde{C}_{s}}\tilde{I}_{8} \pm \frac{s}{2C_{s}}\tilde{I}_{9}\right].$$

Using the $\log(x_{12}^2)$ dependence of integrals I_a (a = 1, ..., 9) obtained in appendix A.2 and appendix B, we can read off the anomalous dimensions as

$$\gamma_s^{\pm} = \frac{16}{3N\pi^2} \frac{\tilde{\kappa}^2}{1+\tilde{\kappa}^2} - \frac{16}{N\pi^2} \left(\frac{\tilde{\kappa}}{1+\tilde{\kappa}^2}\right)^2 \frac{1}{(2s-1)(2s+1)} \\ \mp \left[(-1)^s \frac{\tilde{\kappa}^2}{1+\tilde{\kappa}^2} + \left(\frac{\tilde{\kappa}}{1+\tilde{\kappa}^2}\right)^2 \right] \frac{16}{N\pi^2} \frac{s}{(2s-1)(2s+1)} \\ - \left(\frac{\tilde{\kappa}^2}{1+\tilde{\kappa}^2}\right)^2 \frac{16}{\pi^2 N} \frac{s\pm 1}{(2s-1)(2s+1)} .$$
(4.19)

This is another main result of this paper along with (3.22). We can see $\gamma_1^- = 0$ for any $\tilde{\kappa}$ but $\gamma_1^+ \neq 0$. This means that only a diagonal global symmetry in U(1) \otimes U(1) is left unbroken. We can also show that $\gamma_2^+ = 0$ for even finite $\tilde{\kappa}$, which is consistent with the unbroken conformal symmetry.

5 Bulk interpretations

In the previous sections, we have computed the anomalous dimensions of higher spin currents mainly in the conformal perturbation theory by following the previous works [1, 2, 21]. The main motivation to use the method is that the CFT computation is closely related to the evaluation of bulk Witten diagram for one-loop corrections to the masses of dual higher spin fields as in figure 1. A crucial point is to rewrite bulk-to-bulk propagators with modified boundary conditions in terms of the product of bulk-to-boundary propagators and boundary two point functions [19, 20]. Using this, the one-loop corrections can be computed by using only tree Witten diagrams as in figure 2. In the next subsection, we reproduce the result in [21] by using the intrinsic coordinates instead of embedding ones as was done in [19, 20]. In subsection 5.2, we examine the bulk spinor propagators by applying the method.

5.1 Bulk scalar propagators

We work on d + 1 dimensional Euclidean AdS space, and use the Poincaré coordinates as

$$ds^{2} = \frac{1}{z_{0}^{2}} (dz_{0}^{2} + d\bar{z}^{2}).$$
(5.1)

Here z_0 is the radial coordinate and \vec{z} are the coordinates parallel to the boundary, where the boundary is located at $z_0 = 0$. We consider two bulk scalar fields $\Phi^{(1)}$, $\Phi^{(2)}$ with the same mass but with alternative boundary conditions. They are dual to boundary scalar operators \mathcal{O}_{Δ} and $\mathcal{O}_{d-\Delta}$ with the scaling dimensions Δ and $d - \Delta$, respectively. In the current case, d = 3 and $\Delta = 1$ or 2. The bulk-to-boundary propagators are given as [29, 30]

$$K_{\Delta}(z, \vec{x}) = \frac{\Gamma(\Delta)}{\pi^{d/2} \Gamma(\Delta - d/2)} \left(\frac{z_0}{z_0^2 + (\vec{z} - \vec{x})^2} \right)^{\Delta} .$$
(5.2)

This leads to the normalization corresponding to the standard kinetic term of dual bulk scalars as

$$B_{\Delta}(\vec{x}, \vec{y}) \equiv \langle \mathcal{O}_{\Delta}(\vec{x}) \mathcal{O}_{\Delta}(\vec{y}) \rangle = \frac{(2\Delta - d)\Gamma(\Delta)}{\pi^{d/2}\Gamma(\Delta - d/2)} \frac{1}{|\vec{x} - \vec{y}|^{2\Delta}}.$$
(5.3)

Compared with the two point functions in (3.1), the relations are

$$\mathcal{O}_1 = \sqrt{\frac{8}{N}} \mathcal{O}, \quad \mathcal{O}_2 = \sqrt{\frac{8}{N}} \tilde{\mathcal{O}}.$$
 (5.4)

We denote $G_{\Delta}(z, w)$ as the bulk-to-bulk propagator, and we will need the following expression as (see, e.g., [19, 31])

$$G_{\Delta}(z,w) = \int \frac{d^d k}{(2\pi)^d} (z_0 w_0)^{d/2} e^{i\vec{k}\cdot(\vec{z}-\vec{w})}$$

$$\times \left[\theta(z_0 - w_0) K_{\Delta - d/2}(kz_0) I_{\Delta - d/2}(kw_0) + \theta(w_0 - z_0) I_{\Delta - d/2}(kz_0) K_{\Delta - d/2}(kw_0) \right].$$
(5.5)

Here $k = |\vec{k}|$ and $K_{\nu}(z)$ and $I_{\nu}(z)$ are the modified Bessel functions. We deform the dual boundary CFT with

$$\Delta_f S = f \int d^d x \mathcal{O}_{\Delta}(x) \mathcal{O}_{d-\Delta}(x) , \qquad (5.6)$$

where f can be identified with $\tilde{\lambda}$ in (3.14). As shown in [16], this deformation is dual to mixing boundary conditions for $\Phi^{(1)}$, $\Phi^{(2)}$. Due to the changes of boundary condition, the scalar propagators $\langle \Phi^{(a)}(z)\Phi^{(b)}(w)\rangle_f = G_f^{ab}(z,w)$ become [32, 33]

$$G_{f}^{ab}(z,w) = \frac{1}{1+\tilde{f}^{2}} \begin{pmatrix} G_{\Delta}(z,w) + \tilde{f}^{2}G_{d-\Delta}(z,w) & \tilde{f}G_{d-\Delta}(z,w) - \tilde{f}G_{\Delta}(z,w) \\ \tilde{f}G_{d-\Delta}(z,w) - \tilde{f}G_{\Delta}(z,w) & G_{d-\Delta}(z,w) + \tilde{f}^{2}G_{\Delta}(z,w) \end{pmatrix}$$
(5.7)

with $\tilde{f} = (2\Delta - d)f$. At the limit $\tilde{f} \to \infty$, the propagators for $\Phi^{(1)}$, $\Phi^{(2)}$ are exchanged, and this is consistent with the fact that the dual CFT reduces to the sum of the critical U(N) scalars and the Gross-Neveu model.

Here we would like to examine the bulk Witten diagram in figure 1, where the bulk-tobulk scalar propagators with modified boundary conditions in (5.7) are used for the loop. It is a quite difficult task to directly evaluate loop diagrams with higher spin gauge fields generically. However, the AdS/CFT duality suggests that the modified scalar propagators should be written in terms of scalar propagators with f = 0 but with the insertions of boundary operators. More precisely speaking, we should have the following identities as

$$G_{f}^{11}(z,w) = G_{\Delta}(z,w) + f^{2} \int d^{d}x_{1} d^{d}x_{2} K_{\Delta}(z,\vec{x}_{1}) B_{d-\Delta}(\vec{x}_{1},\vec{x}_{2}) K_{\Delta}(w,\vec{x}_{2}) + f^{4} \int \prod_{n=1}^{4} d^{d}x_{n} K_{\Delta}(z,\vec{x}_{1}) B_{d-\Delta}(\vec{x}_{1},\vec{x}_{2}) B_{\Delta}(\vec{x}_{2},\vec{x}_{3}) B_{d-\Delta}(\vec{x}_{3},\vec{x}_{4}) K_{\Delta}(w,\vec{x}_{4}) + \cdots, \quad (5.8)$$
$$G_{f}^{12}(z,w) = -f \int d^{d}x K_{\Delta}(z,\vec{x}) K_{d-\Delta}(w,\vec{x})$$

$$G_{f}^{12}(z,w) = -f \int d^{d}x K_{\Delta}(z,\vec{x}) K_{d-\Delta}(w,\vec{x}) - f^{3} \int \prod_{n=1}^{3} d^{d}x_{n} K_{\Delta}(z,\vec{x}_{1}) B_{d-\Delta}(\vec{x}_{1},\vec{x}_{2}) B_{\Delta}(\vec{x}_{2},\vec{x}_{3}) K_{d-\Delta}(w,\vec{x}_{3}) + \cdots$$
(5.9)

The same should be true for G_f^{22} and G_f^{21} by exchanging Δ with $d - \Delta$. With these identities, the loop Witten diagram in figure 1 can be evaluated only from the product of tree Witten diagrams as in figure 2.⁷ Moreover, we can see that the latter description is dual to the boundary computation in conformal perturbation theory. Therefore, we can obtain the map between the bulk computation with Witten diagrams and boundary one in conformal perturbation theory, once we can confirm the identities (5.8) and (5.9). We can check that the identities (5.8) and (5.9) follow the two basic ingredients

$$\int d^d x K_\Delta(z, \vec{x}) B_{d-\Delta}(\vec{x}, \vec{y}) = (d - 2\Delta) K_{d-\Delta}(z, \vec{x}), \qquad (5.10)$$

$$\int d^d x K_{\Delta}(z, \vec{x}) K_{d-\Delta}(w, \vec{x}) = (2\Delta - d) \left[G_{\Delta}(z, w) - G_{d-\Delta}(z, w) \right] \,. \tag{5.11}$$

In the rest of this subsection, we shall derive them. They were already shown as (B.21) and (5.7) in [21] by adopting the embedding formulation. For the extension to bulk spinor propagators in next subsection, we re-derive the results using the intrinsic coordinates in (5.1). The derivation of (5.11) here is the same as the one in [19], see also [20].

⁷Here we have used the fact that there is no contribution to the two point function from the one-loop diagram at f = 0.

For our purpose, it is convenient to work in the momentum representation as

$$K_{\Delta}(z_0, \vec{k}) = \int \frac{d^d z}{(2\pi)^{d/2}} K_{\Delta}(z, 0) e^{-i\vec{k}\cdot\vec{z}} = \frac{2^{1-\Delta} z_0^{d/2}}{\pi^{d/2} \Gamma(\Delta - d/2)} k^{\Delta - d/2} K_{\Delta - d/2}(z_0 k) ,$$

$$B_{\Delta}(\vec{k}) = \int \frac{d^d x}{(2\pi)^{d/2}} B_{\Delta}(\vec{x}, 0) e^{-i\vec{k}\cdot\vec{x}} = \frac{2^{d/2-2\Delta} (2\Delta - d)\Gamma(d/2 - \Delta)}{\pi^{d/2} \Gamma(\Delta - d/2)} k^{2\Delta - d} .$$
(5.12)

Using these expressions, we can show

$$\int d^{d}x K_{\Delta}(z,\vec{x}) B_{d-\Delta}(\vec{x},\vec{y}) = \int d^{d}x \frac{d^{d}k_{1}}{(2\pi)^{d/2}} \frac{d^{d}k_{2}}{(2\pi)^{d/2}} K_{\Delta}(z_{0},\vec{k}_{1}) e^{i\vec{k}_{1}\cdot(\vec{z}-\vec{x})} B_{d-\Delta}(\vec{k}_{2}) e^{i\vec{k}_{2}\cdot(\vec{x}-\vec{y})}$$
$$= \frac{2^{1-3d/2+\Delta} z_{0}^{d/2}(d-2\Delta)}{\pi^{d}\Gamma(d/2-\Delta)} \int d^{d}k e^{i\vec{k}\cdot(\vec{z}-\vec{y})} k^{d/2-\Delta} K_{d/2-\Delta}(z_{0}k) = (d-2\Delta) K_{d-\Delta}(z_{0},\vec{z},\vec{y})$$
(5.13)

as in (5.10). Similarly, we have for (5.11)

$$\int d^{d}x K_{\Delta}(z,\vec{x}) K_{d-\Delta}(w,\vec{x})$$

$$= \int d^{d}x \frac{d^{d}k_{1}}{(2\pi)^{d/2}} \frac{d^{d}k_{2}}{(2\pi)^{d/2}} K_{\Delta}(z_{0},\vec{k}_{1}) e^{i\vec{k}_{1}\cdot(\vec{z}-\vec{x})} K_{d-\Delta}(w_{0},\vec{k}_{2}) e^{i\vec{k}_{2}\cdot(\vec{w}-\vec{x})}$$

$$= \frac{2^{2-d}(z_{0}w_{0})^{d/2}}{\pi^{d}\Gamma(\Delta-d/2)\Gamma(d/2-\Delta)} \int d^{d}k K_{\Delta-d/2}(z_{0}k) K_{\Delta-d/2}(w_{0}k) e^{i\vec{k}\cdot(\vec{z}-\vec{w})} .$$
(5.14)

Applying the formula $(\nu=\Delta-d/2)$

$$K_{\nu}(z_0 k) = \frac{\nu}{2} \Gamma(\nu) \Gamma(-\nu) [I_{\nu}(z_0 k) - I_{-\nu}(z_0 k)], \qquad (5.15)$$

we find

$$\int d^{d}k K_{\nu}(z_{0}k) K_{\nu}(w_{0}k) = \int d^{d}k K_{\nu}(z_{0}k) K_{\nu}(w_{0}k) [\theta(z_{0} - w_{0}) + \theta(w_{0} - z_{0})]$$

$$= \frac{\nu}{2} \Gamma(\nu) \Gamma(-\nu) \theta(z_{0} - w_{0}) \int d^{d}k K_{\nu}(z_{0}k) (I_{\nu}(w_{0}k) - I_{-\nu}(w_{0}k))$$

$$+ \frac{\nu}{2} \Gamma(\nu) \Gamma(-\nu) \theta(z_{0} - w_{0}) \int d^{d}k K_{\nu}(w_{0}k) (I_{\nu}(z_{0}k) - I_{-\nu}(z_{0}k)).$$
(5.16)

With the expression of bulk-to-bulk propagators in (5.5), we arrive at (5.11).

5.2 Bulk spinor propagators

There is another type of marginal deformation as in (1.2), and they should be dual to modifying boundary conditions for bulk spinor fields. Thus the anomalous dimensions of higher spin currents can be computed from one-loop Witten diagram as in figure 1, but now bulk spinor fields with modified boundary condition are running along the loop. In this subsection, we show that the one-loop Witten diagram can be evaluated from the product of tree Witten diagrams as in figure 2 just like for the bulk scalar propagators.

We examine d+1 dimensional Euclidean space with the coordinate system (5.1). Moreover, we consider two bulk Dirac fermions $\Psi^{(1)}, \Psi^{(2)}$ with the same mass m but alternative boundary conditions. The spinor operators dual to $\Psi^{(1)}$, $\Psi^{(2)}$ are given as \mathcal{K}_{Δ_+} , \mathcal{K}_{Δ_-} , whose conformal dimensions are $\Delta_{\pm} = d/2 \pm m$. For application to the current case, we should set d = 3, m = 0, and consider only half of the fermions.

Spinor propagators in AdS_{d+1} have been investigated in [31, 34, 35], and we follow their analysis. We introduce the Gamma matrices Γ^a $(a = 0, 1, \dots, d)$ satisfying $\{\Gamma^a, \Gamma^b\} = 2\delta^{ab}$. Defining

$$U(z, \vec{x}) = z_0^{1/2} \Gamma^0 + z_0^{-1/2} \vec{\Gamma} \cdot (\vec{z} - \vec{x}), \qquad (5.17)$$

the bulk-to-boundary propagators are given as

$$\Sigma_{\Delta_{\pm}}(z,\vec{x}) = U(z,\vec{x})K_{\Delta_{\pm}+1/2}(z,\vec{x})\mathcal{P}_{\mp}, \quad \bar{\Sigma}_{\Delta_{\pm}}(z,\vec{x}) = \pm \mathcal{P}_{\pm}K_{\Delta_{\pm}+1/2}(z,\vec{x})U(z,\vec{x}), \quad (5.18)$$

where

$$\mathcal{P}_{\pm} = \frac{1}{2} (1 \pm \Gamma^0) \,. \tag{5.19}$$

The boundary two point functions are

$$F_{\Delta_{\pm}}(\vec{x}, \vec{y}) \equiv \langle \mathcal{K}_{\Delta_{\pm}}(\vec{x}) \bar{\mathcal{K}}_{\Delta_{\pm}}(\vec{y}) \rangle = \frac{\Gamma(\Delta_{\pm} + 1/2)}{\pi^{d/2} \Gamma(1/2 \pm m)} \frac{\vec{\Gamma} \cdot (\vec{x} - \vec{y})}{|\vec{x} - \vec{y}|^{2\Delta_{\pm} + 1}} \mathcal{P}_{\mp}.$$
 (5.20)

Compared with (4.1), the normalization of spinor operators differs from \mathcal{K} by the factor $\sqrt{16/N}$.

As in [31], the bulk-to-bulk propagators should satisfy

$$(\not\!\!\!D - m)S^m_{\pm}(z,w) = S^m_{\pm}(z,w)\left(-\overleftarrow{\not\!\!\!\!D} - m\right) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{g}}\delta^{(d+1)}(z-w)\,,\tag{5.21}$$

and furthermore regularity and boundary condition. Solutions were obtained as

$$S^{m}_{\pm}(z,w) = \mp \int \frac{d^{d}k}{(2\pi)^{d}} k e^{i\vec{k}\cdot(\vec{z}-\vec{w})} \left[\theta(z_{0}-w_{0})\phi^{(K)}_{\pm,m}(z_{0},\vec{k})\mathcal{P}_{\mp}\bar{\phi}^{(I)}_{\mp,m}(w_{0},-\vec{k}) - \theta(w_{0}-z_{0})\phi^{(I)}_{\pm,m}(z_{0},\vec{k})\mathcal{P}_{\mp}\bar{\phi}^{(K)}_{\mp,m}(w_{0},-\vec{k}) \right].$$
(5.22)

Here we have defined

$$\phi_{\pm,m}^{(K)}(z_0,\vec{k}) = z_0^{\frac{d+1}{2}} \left[K_{m\pm 1/2}(kz_0) \pm i\frac{k}{k} K_{m\mp 1/2}(kz_0) \right], \qquad (5.23)$$

$$\phi_{\pm,m}^{(I)}(z_0,\vec{k}) = z_0^{\frac{d+1}{2}} \left[I_{m\pm 1/2}(kz_0) \mp i \frac{k}{k} I_{m\mp 1/2}(kz_0) \right] , \qquad (5.24)$$

and

$$\bar{\phi}_{\mp,m}^{(K)}(z_0,\vec{k}) = z_0^{\frac{d+1}{2}} \left[K_{m\mp 1/2}(kz_0) \pm i\frac{k}{k} K_{m\pm 1/2}(kz_0) \right] = \phi_{\mp,m}^{(K)}(z_0,-\vec{k}), \qquad (5.25)$$

$$\bar{\phi}_{\mp,m}^{(I)}(z_0,\vec{k}) = z_0^{\frac{d+1}{2}} \left[I_{m\mp 1/2}(kz_0) \mp i\frac{k}{k} I_{m\pm 1/2}(kz_0) \right] = \phi_{\mp,m}^{(I)}(z_0,-\vec{k}) \,. \tag{5.26}$$

Since we have

$$(\not\!\!D - m)S^m_{\pm}(z, w) = \left(z_0\Gamma^a\partial_a - \frac{d}{2}\Gamma_0 - m\right)S^m_{\pm}(z, w), \qquad (5.27)$$

the solution with -m can be obtained from $S^m_{\pm}(z, w)$ by replacing Γ^0 by $-\Gamma^0$ and (z, w) by (-z, -w). This implies that

$$S_{\pm}^{-m}(z,w) = -S_{\mp}^{m}(-z,-w), \qquad (5.28)$$

which will be used for later analysis.

We deform the dual boundary CFT by

$$\Delta_h S = h \int d^d x \left[\bar{\mathcal{K}}_{\Delta_+}(x) \mathcal{K}_{\Delta_-}(x) + \bar{\mathcal{K}}_{\Delta_-}(x) \mathcal{K}_{\Delta_+}(x) \right] \,. \tag{5.29}$$

Here we have two terms since now we are working with two Dirac fermions. The deformation parameter h can be identified with $\tilde{\kappa}$ in (4.13). The deformation is dual to mixing the boundary conditions for $\Psi^{(1)}$, $\Psi^{(2)}$, and the modified spinor propagators $\langle \Psi^{(a)}(z)\bar{\Psi}^{(b)}(w)\rangle = S_f^{ab}(z,w)$ are [33]

$$S_{h}^{ab}(z,w) = \frac{1}{1+h^{2}} \begin{pmatrix} S_{+}^{m}(z,w) + h^{2}S_{-}^{m}(z,w) & hS_{-}^{m}(z,w) - hS_{+}^{m}(z,w) \\ hS_{-}^{m}(z,w) - hS_{+}^{m}(z,w) & S_{-}^{m}(z,w) + h^{2}S_{+}^{m}(z,w) \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (5.30)

We can see that the propagators for $\Psi^{(1)}$, $\Psi^{(2)}$ are exchanged at the limit $h \to \infty$. Below we shall show that

$$\int d^d x \Sigma_{\Delta_{\pm}}(z, \vec{x}) F_{\Delta_{\mp}}(\vec{x}, \vec{y}) = \pm \Sigma_{\Delta_{\mp}}(z, \vec{y}), \qquad (5.31)$$

$$\int d^d x F_{\Delta_{\mp}}(\vec{x}, \vec{y}) \bar{\Sigma}_{\Delta_{\pm}}(z, \vec{y}) = \pm \bar{\Sigma}_{\Delta_{\mp}}(z, \vec{x}), \qquad (5.32)$$

$$\int d^d x \Sigma_{\Delta_{\pm}}(z, \vec{x}) \bar{\Sigma}_{\Delta_{\mp}}(w, \vec{x}) = \pm (S^m_{\pm}(z, w) - S^m_{\mp}(z, w)).$$
(5.33)

Using these identities, we can rewrite the modified spinor propagators (5.30) as those with h = 0 but with the insertions of boundary operators precisely as for the bosonic case, see (5.8) and (5.9).

In order to proof the identities (5.31), (5.32) and (5.33), it is convenient to express the propagators (5.18) and (5.20) in the momentum representation as

$$\Sigma_{\Delta_{\pm}}(z_{0},\vec{k}) = \int \frac{d^{d}z}{(2\pi)^{d/2}} \Sigma_{\Delta_{\pm}}(z,0) e^{-i\vec{k}\cdot\vec{z}} = \mp \frac{2^{1/2-\Delta_{\pm}}}{\pi^{d/2}\Gamma(1/2\pm m)} k^{\pm m+1/2} \phi_{\pm,m}^{(K)}(z_{0},\vec{k}) \mathcal{P}_{\mp}, \quad (5.34)$$
$$\bar{\Sigma}_{\Delta_{\pm}}(z_{0},\vec{k}) = \int \frac{d^{d}z}{(2\pi)^{d/2}} \bar{\Sigma}_{\Delta_{\pm}}(z,0) e^{-i\vec{k}\cdot\vec{z}} = \mathcal{P}_{\pm} \frac{2^{1/2-\Delta_{\pm}}}{\pi^{d/2}\Gamma(1/2\pm m)} k^{\pm m+1/2} \bar{\phi}_{\pm,m}^{(K)}(z_{0},\vec{k}), \quad (5.35)$$

and

$$F_{\Delta_{\pm}}(\vec{k}) = \int \frac{d^d z}{(2\pi)^{d/2}} F_{\Delta_{\pm}}(\vec{x}, 0) e^{-i\vec{k}\cdot\vec{x}} = -\frac{\Gamma(1/2 \mp m)}{2^{2\Delta_{\pm} - d/2}\pi^{d/2}\Gamma(1/2 \pm m)} i \not\!\!\! k k^{2\Delta_{\pm} - 1 - d} \mathcal{P}_{\mp}.$$
 (5.36)

Then we can show

$$\int d^d x \Sigma_{\Delta_{\pm}}(z, \vec{x}) F_{\Delta_{\mp}}(\vec{x}, \vec{y}) = \int d^d k \Sigma_{\Delta_{\pm}}(z, \vec{k}) F_{\Delta_{\mp}}(-\vec{k}) e^{i\vec{k}\cdot(\vec{z}-\vec{y})} = \pm \Sigma_{\Delta_{\mp}}(z, \vec{y})$$
(5.37)

for (5.31) and similarly for (5.32). For (5.33) we rewrite

$$\int d^{d}x \Sigma_{\Delta_{\pm}}(z, \vec{x}) \bar{\Sigma}_{\Delta_{\mp}}(w, \vec{x}) = \int d^{d}k e^{i\vec{k}\cdot(\vec{z}-\vec{w})} \Sigma_{\Delta_{\pm}}(z_{0}, \vec{k}) \bar{\Sigma}_{\Delta_{\mp}}(w_{0}, -\vec{k})$$
$$= \mp \frac{2^{1-d}}{\pi^{d}\Gamma(1/2\pm m)\Gamma(1/2\mp m)} \int d^{d}k e^{i\vec{k}\cdot(\vec{z}-\vec{w})} k\phi_{\pm,m}^{(K)}(z_{0}, \vec{k}) \mathcal{P}_{\mp}\bar{\phi}_{\mp,m}^{(K)}(w_{0}, -\vec{k}).$$
(5.38)

Using

$$\phi_{\pm,m}^{(K)}(z_0,\vec{k}) = \phi_{\mp,-m}^{(K)}(z_0,-\vec{k}), \qquad (5.39)$$

and

$$\phi_{\pm,m}^{(K)}(z_0,\vec{k}) = \mp \frac{1}{2} \Gamma(1/2\pm m) \Gamma(1/2\mp m) \left[\phi_{\pm,m}^{(I)}(z_0,\vec{k}) - \phi_{\mp,-m}^{(I)}(z_0,-\vec{k}) \right] , \qquad (5.40)$$

we find (5.33) with the help of (5.28).

6 Conclusion and discussions

In this paper, we have studied 3d supersymmetric U(N) model, which is supposed to be dual to 4d supersymmetric Vasiliev theory [9, 10]. The model admits two types of marginal deformation as in (1.1) and (1.2), and the deformations should be dual to modifying boundary conditions for dual scalars and spinors, respectively [16]. There are two main results of this paper. One of them is on the anomalous dimensions of higher spin currents in the deformed models. Using basically conformal perturbation theory, we obtained them to the leading order in 1/N but to all orders in deformed theory by (1.2), we utilized another technique as used in [17]. The other is on the dual higher spin interpretation of the computations in conformal perturbation theory, which can be done by rewriting one-loop Witten diagram as in figure 1 to the product of tree Witten diagrams as in figure 2. We have derived the ingredients essential for the rewritening in (5.10), (5.11) for bulk scalars and in (5.31), (5.32), (5.33) for bulk spinors. This was already done in [21] for bulk scalars (see [19, 20] for (5.11)) but it was new for bulk spinors.

We examined the 3d supersymmetric model as a simple model which has marginal deformations and higher spin holographic dual. We would like to relate deforming the CFT marginally and turning on the string tension. In order to reveal more precise relations, however, we need to extend the analysis to more complicated systems. For instance, a concrete relation (named as ABJ triality) was proposed in [18] through 3d ABJ(M) theory in [36, 37]. For application to the ABJ triality, we have to work with coupling to Chern-Simons gauge fields as in [12–14]. See [15] for a recent work. There are also lower dimensional proposals with 2d CFTs which have $\mathcal{N} = 4$ supersymmetry in [38, 39] and $\mathcal{N} = 3$ supersymmetry in [33, 40, 41]. Symmetry breaking for higher spin gauge theory on AdS₃ has been studied in [21, 23, 33, 42], but more detailed analysis would be required to say more concretely.

There are other open problems as follows; we have evaluated the $\log(x_{12}^2)$ dependence of integrals \tilde{I}_7 , \tilde{I}_8 , \tilde{I}_9 in appendix B with an indirect method. However, it is desired to evaluate them explicitly, see also footnote 2. A drawback of our method is that we cannot identify the Nambu-Goldstone modes arising due to symmetry breaking as mentioned in [1, 2]. A direct way to evaluate the loop corrections to the bulk higher spin propagators explicitly, but it looks a quite hard task. Along with the difficulty for evaluating loops, there is an additional problem on our limited understanding of the dual Vasiliev theory, where only classical equations of motion are available presently. An indirect way might be given by group theoretic analysis as was done for the 4d Vasiliev theory dual to 3d critical O(N)model in [43]. It would be also possible by writing the divergence of dual higher spin current in terms of products of higher spin currents, see, e.g., [14, 15, 26, 27]. The 3d supersymmetric U(N) model itself is also worth studying furthermore. The deformations in (1.1) and (1.2) are exactly marginal to the 1/N order, but it is not clear what happens at the next order. Even if we could find non-trivial fixed lines (or points), it is notorious to be a hard problem to go beyond the leading order in 1/N. Hopefully, this issue would be tractable along the line in, e.g., [28, 44-46]. It is also important to extend our analysis to, say, the theory with both bosons and fermions in generic $d \neq 3$ as in [47, 48]. In the case, the deformations (1.1) and (1.2) are not marginal anymore, so we may examine the fixed points of RG flow induced by these deformations.

Acknowledgments

The work of YH is supported by JSPS KAKENHI Grant Number 24740170, 16H02182.

A Evaluations of integral

In this appendix, we examine the integrals I_a (a = 1, ..., 5) and \tilde{I}_a (a = 1, ..., 6) defined in the main context. We denote the $\log(x_{12}^2)$ dependence of these integrals as I_a^{\log} and \tilde{I}_a^{\log} , and we shall obtain them explicitly by borrowing the results in [1, 2].

A.1 Deformation with bosonic operators

In the case with (1.1), the integrals are almost the identical to those evaluated in [1, 2], so we can directly use the results there. The integral I_1 in (3.5) is almost the same as the one in section 3.2 of [2] with d = 3, once we replace the correlator

$$\langle \tilde{\mathcal{O}}(x_1)\tilde{\mathcal{O}}(x_2)\rangle_0 = \frac{2NC_\phi^2}{(x_{12}^2)^2} \tag{A.1}$$

by the propagator of auxiliary field σ . Therefore, we may shift the exponent as $(x_{12}^2)^{-2} \rightarrow (x_{12}^2)^{-2+\Delta}$. Then the reside at $\Delta = 0$ should be the factor in front of $\log(x_{12}^2)$. Since we are working with complex scalars, we need to multiply some factors as discussed in section 5.2 of [2]. Moreover, we have to replace the overall factor C_{σ} for the auxiliary field propagator by $2NC_{\phi}^2$. We then find

$$I_1^{\log} = -\frac{N}{12\pi^2} \frac{(s-1)(s+1)}{(2s-1)(2s+1)} D_0^s \log(x_{12}^2) \,. \tag{A.2}$$

We can evaluate I_2 in (3.6) as for I_1 . Replacing

$$\langle \mathcal{O}(x_1)\mathcal{O}(x_2)\rangle_0 = \frac{NC_\phi^2}{x_{12}^2} \tag{A.3}$$

by the propagator of auxiliary field $\tilde{\sigma}$, the computation of I_2 is almost the same as that of I_1 in subsection 4.2 of [2]. Thus we shift as $(x_{12}^2)^{-1} \to (x_{12}^2)^{-1+\Delta}$ and pick up the $1/\Delta$ -pole term. Replacing the overall factor $C_{\tilde{\sigma}}$ for the auxiliary field propagator by NC_{ϕ}^2 , we find

$$I_2^{\log} = -\frac{N}{12\pi^2} \frac{(s-1)(s+1)}{(2s-1)(2s+1)} \tilde{D}_0^s \log(x_{12}^2) \,. \tag{A.4}$$

The integral I_3 in (3.7) vanishes for s odd, so we set s even here. Using the three point functions obtained in [2], the integral I_3 can be written as

$$I_3 = 8N^2 C_{\phi}^6 \sum_{k,l=0}^s a_k a_l B_{k,l}$$
(A.5)

with

$$B_{k,l} = \int d^3 x_3 d^3 x_4 \frac{1}{(x_{34}^2)^2} \left[\hat{\partial}_1^{s-k} \frac{1}{(x_{41}^2)^{1/2}} \right] \left[\hat{\partial}_1^k \frac{1}{(x_{31}^2)^{1/2}} \right] \left[\hat{\partial}_2^l \frac{1}{(x_{42}^2)^{1/2}} \right] \left[\hat{\partial}_2^{s-l} \frac{1}{(x_{32}^2)^{1/2}} \right]. \tag{A.6}$$

The same integral arises from the O(N) scalars as $I_1^{(2)}$ in subsection 3.2.2 of [2], so we use the regularization adopted there. We evaluate the integral with $(x_{34}^2)^{-2}$ replaced by $(x_{34}^2)^{-2+\Delta}$. Borrowing the result in [2] as

$$\sum_{k,l=0}^{s} a_k a_l B_{k,l} = \frac{1}{2NC_{\phi}^4} \frac{1}{(2s-1)(2s+1)} D_0^s \frac{1}{\Delta} + \mathcal{O}(\Delta^0) , \qquad (A.7)$$

we find

$$I_3^{\log} = \mathcal{P}_s \frac{N}{4\pi^2} \frac{1}{(2s-1)(2s+1)} D_0^s \log(x_{12}^2) \,. \tag{A.8}$$

For the integral I_4 in (3.19), we adopt the regularization used for I_1 . Then the integral is the same as the one computed in section 3.3 of [2]. Since we are working with U(N)global symmetry, we need to multiply each three point function by 1/4. Moreover, we should replace C_{σ} by $2NC_{\phi}$. Thus we find

$$I_4^{\log} = \mathcal{P}_s \frac{N^3}{2^9 \pi^2} \frac{s}{(2s-1)(2s+1)} D_0^s \log(x_{12}^2) \,. \tag{A.9}$$

For the other integral I_5 in (3.20), we adopt the regularization used for I_2 . Then the integral is the same as the one computed in subsection 4.3. Replacing $C_{\tilde{\sigma}}$ by NC_{ϕ} , we obtain

$$I_5^{\log} = \mathcal{P}_s \frac{N^3}{2^9 \pi^2} \frac{s}{(2s-1)(2s+1)} \tilde{D}_0^s \log(x_{12}^2) \,. \tag{A.10}$$

Here we should remark that the contributions to the $\log(x_{12}^2)$ terms are not the $1/\Delta$ -pole terms but twice of them. See [24] for more details, for instance.

A.2 Deformation with fermionic operators

We move to examine the integrals appeared in section 4, where we have deformed the theory by (1.2). The integral \tilde{I}_1 in (4.5) is computed as

$$\tilde{I}_1 = 4N^2 C_{\phi}^6 \int d^3 x_3 d^3 x_4 \sum_{k,l=0}^s a_k a_l \left[\hat{\partial}_1^k \frac{1}{(x_{14}^2)^{1/2}} \right] \left[\hat{\partial}_1^{s-k} \hat{\partial}_2^l \frac{1}{(x_{12}^2)^{1/2}} \right] \left[\hat{\partial}_2^{s-l} \frac{1}{(x_{23}^2)^{1/2}} \right] \frac{1}{(x_{34}^2)^{5/2}} \,.$$

The integral is essentially the same as $I_1^{(1)}$ computed in subsection 3.2.1 of [2], so we evaluate the integral in the same way. Namely, we replace $(x_{34}^2)^{-5/2}$ by $(x_{34}^2)^{-5/2+\Delta}$ and pick up the $1/\Delta$ -pole term. The $\log(x_{12}^2)$ dependence can be read off as

$$\tilde{I}_1^{\log} = -\frac{N}{3 \cdot 2^4 \pi^2} D_0^s \log(x_{12}^2) \,. \tag{A.11}$$

The integral \tilde{I}_2 in (4.6) can be written as

$$\tilde{I}_2 = 2N^2 C_{\phi}^6 \sum_{k,l=0}^s a_k a_l B_{k,l} , \qquad (A.12)$$

where $B_{k,l}$ was defined in (A.6). As for I_3 , we find

$$\tilde{I}_{2}^{\log} = \frac{N}{2^{4}\pi^{2}} \frac{1}{(2s-1)(2s+1)} D_{0}^{s} \log(x_{12}^{2}).$$
(A.13)

The integral \tilde{I}_3 in (4.7) becomes

$$\begin{split} \tilde{I}_{3} &= \frac{2}{3} N^{2} C_{\phi}^{6} \int d^{3} x_{3} d^{3} x_{4} \\ \times \sum_{k,l=0}^{s-1} \tilde{a}_{k} \tilde{a}_{l} \mathrm{tr} \left[\hat{\partial}_{1}^{k} \vartheta_{3} \frac{1}{(x_{13}^{2})^{1/2}} \right] \hat{\gamma} \left[\hat{\partial}_{1}^{s-k-1} \hat{\partial}_{2}^{l} \vartheta_{1} \frac{1}{(x_{12}^{2})^{1/2}} \right] \left[\hat{\gamma} \hat{\partial}_{2}^{s-l-1} \vartheta_{2} \frac{1}{(x_{24}^{2})^{1/2}} \right] \left[\vartheta_{3} \frac{1}{(x_{34}^{2})^{3/2}} \right]. \end{split}$$
(A.14)

The integral is almost the same as $I_1^{(1)}$ in subsection 4.2.1 of [2], so we shift $(x_{34}^2)^{-3/2}$ as $(x_{34}^2)^{-3/2+\Delta}$. From the $1/\Delta$ -pole term, we find

$$\tilde{I}_{3}^{\log} = -\frac{N}{3 \cdot 2^4 \pi^2} \tilde{D}_0^s \log(x_{12}^2) \,. \tag{A.15}$$

Similarly, we obtain

$$\tilde{I}_{4} = -N^{2}C_{\phi}^{6} \sum_{k,l=0}^{s-1} \tilde{a}_{k}\tilde{a}_{l} \int d^{3}x_{3}d^{3}x_{4}$$
(A.16)
$$\times \operatorname{tr}\left\{ \left[\hat{\partial}_{1}^{k} \vartheta_{3} \frac{1}{(x_{13}^{2})^{1/2}} \right] \hat{\gamma} \left[\hat{\partial}_{1}^{s-1-k} \vartheta_{1} \frac{1}{(x_{14}^{2})^{1/2}} \right] \left[\hat{\partial}_{2}^{l} \vartheta_{4} \frac{1}{(x_{24}^{2})^{1/2}} \right] \hat{\gamma} \left[\hat{\partial}_{2}^{s-1-l} \vartheta_{2} \frac{1}{(x_{23}^{2})^{\delta}} \right] \frac{1}{x_{34}^{2}} \right\}.$$

The integral is almost the same as $I_1^{(2)}$ in subsection 4.2.2 of [2], so we change $(x_{34}^2)^{-1}$ to $(x_{34}^2)^{-1+\Delta}$. From the $1/\Delta$ -pole term, we have

$$\tilde{I}_4^{\log} = \frac{N}{2^4 \pi^2} \frac{1}{(2s-1)(2s+1)} \tilde{D}_0^s \log(x_{12}^2) \,. \tag{A.17}$$

The integrals I_5 in (4.9) and I_6 in (4.10) are of the similar form as

$$\tilde{I}_{5} = (-1)^{s} \tilde{I}_{6} = \frac{1}{2} N^{2} C_{\phi}^{6} \sum_{k=0}^{s} \sum_{l=0}^{s-1} a_{k} \tilde{a}_{l} \int d^{3} x_{3} d^{3} x_{4}$$

$$\times \operatorname{tr} \left\{ \left[\hat{\partial}_{1}^{k} \frac{1}{(x_{14}^{2})^{1/2}} \right] \left[\hat{\partial}_{1}^{s-k} \frac{1}{(x_{13}^{2})^{1/2}} \right] \left[\hat{\partial}_{2}^{l} \vartheta_{3} \frac{1}{(x_{23}^{2})^{1/2}} \right] \hat{\gamma} \left[\hat{\partial}_{2}^{s-l-1} \vartheta_{2} \frac{1}{(x_{24}^{2})^{1/2}} \right] \left[\vartheta_{3} \frac{1}{x_{34}^{2}} \right] \right\}.$$
(A.18)

Using the relation (see (4.41) and (4.42) of [2])

$$\begin{split} \sum_{l=0}^{s-1} \tilde{a}_l \mathrm{tr} \left[\hat{\partial}_2^l \phi_2 \frac{1}{(x_{24}^2)^{1/2}} \right] \hat{\gamma} \left[\hat{\partial}_2^{s-l-1} \phi_2 \frac{1}{(x_{23}^2)^{1/2}} \right] \left[\phi_3 \frac{1}{x_{34}^2} \right] \\ &= \frac{8}{(x_{23}^2)^{3/2}} \sum_{l=0}^s a_l \left[\hat{\partial}_2^l \frac{1}{(x_{24}^2)^{1/2}} \right] \left[\hat{\partial}_2^{s-l} \frac{1}{(x_{23}^2)^{1/2}} \right], \end{split}$$

we can rewrite as

$$\tilde{I}_5 = (-1)^s \tilde{I}_6 = (-1)^s 4N^2 C_{\phi}^6 \sum_{k,l=0}^s a_k a_l B_{k,l}$$
(A.19)

with $B_{k,l}$ in (A.6). The integral \tilde{I}_6 is twice of \tilde{I}_2 evaluated as in (A.13), which leads to

$$\tilde{I}_5^{\log} = (-1)^s \tilde{I}_6^{\log} = (-1)^s \frac{N}{8\pi^2} \frac{1}{(2s-1)(2s+1)} D_0^s \log(x_{12}^2).$$
(A.20)

B Another method for anomalous dimensions

In the previous appendix, we have obtained the $\log(x_{12}^2)$ dependence of integrals I_a $(a = 1, \ldots, 5)$ and \tilde{I}_a $(a = 1, \ldots, 6)$. Therefore, only the integrals \tilde{I}_7 , \tilde{I}_8 , \tilde{I}_9 in (4.15), (4.16), (4.17) are left. In principal, it is straightforward to evaluate the integrals as in [24], but it is quite tedious. In this section, we compute the $\log(x_{12}^2)$ dependence by developing more simple but indirect method.

For explanation, let us focus on the case of the Gross-Neveu model. In case with our main method, we compute $\langle \tilde{J}_s^{\epsilon}(p) \tilde{J}_s^{\epsilon}(-p) \rangle$ and read off the anomalous dimensions as explained in section 2. The same information can be actually read off from the three point function $\langle \tilde{J}_s^{\epsilon}(0)\psi^i(p)\bar{\psi}^j(-p)\rangle$ by solving the RG flow equation as in [17], see also [15]. It is obvious to identify which Feynman diagrams for the three point function correspond to $\tilde{I}_7, \tilde{I}_8, \tilde{I}_9$, thus we can successfully deduce the terms proportional to $\log(x_{12}^2)$ in the integrals. However, in this way, we loose direct connection to the bulk computation as explained in section 5, which was actually the main purpose in previous works [1, 2], see also footnote 2. Moreover, if we are interested in the overall normalization of two point function as in [24], then we have to directly evaluate the complicated integrals.

We need to extend the method in [17] to the case of the supersymmetric model deformed by (1.2). As in subsection 3.3, we rewrite the action by introducing auxiliary spinor fields $\eta, \bar{\eta}$ as

$$S = \int d^3x \left[\partial_\mu \bar{\phi}^i \partial^\mu \phi_i + \bar{\psi}^i \partial \!\!\!/ \psi_i + \bar{\eta} \mathcal{K} + \bar{\mathcal{K}} \eta - \frac{1}{\kappa} \bar{\eta} \eta \right] \,. \tag{B.1}$$



As in [17] we shift the exponent as

$$F_{\kappa}(p) = -\frac{16}{N} \frac{i p}{(p^2)^{1/2 + \Delta}}, \qquad (B.3)$$

which is the same as changing the scaling dimension of η , $\bar{\eta}$ from 3/2 to $3/2 - \Delta$, see, e.g., [24]. This also implies that interaction terms become

$$\mu^{\Delta} \int d^3x [\bar{\eta}\mathcal{K} + \bar{\mathcal{K}}\eta] \tag{B.4}$$

at $\kappa \to \infty$ with the renormalization scale μ .

We read off the anomalous dimensions from the μ dependence of three point functions, such as, $\langle \tilde{J}_s^{\epsilon}(0)\psi^i(p)\bar{\psi}^j(-p)\rangle$. The vertex operators corresponding to $J_s^{\epsilon}(0)$ and $\tilde{J}_s^{\epsilon}(0)$ are

$$V_{1,s}^{0}(0,p) = v_{s}(\hat{p})^{s}, \quad V_{2,s}^{0}(0,p) = \tilde{v}_{s}\hat{\gamma}(\hat{p})^{s-1}, \quad \hat{p} \equiv \epsilon \cdot p.$$
(B.5)

We may denote the logarithmic corrections to the vertices $V^0_{\alpha,s}(0,p)$ as

$$\delta V_s^{\alpha\beta}(0,p) = -\gamma_s^{\alpha\beta} V_{\beta,s}^0(0,p) \log \mu \,. \tag{B.6}$$

Here $\gamma_s^{\alpha\beta}$ were given in (2.13), and they become anomalous dimensions after diagonalization.⁸ There are three types of contributions as in figure 3. Two of them can be computed by left two Feynman diagrams, which correspond to the integrals \tilde{I}_a (a = 1, ..., 6). Another type of corrections come from the right most Feynman diagram. They correspond to the integrals $\tilde{I}_7, \tilde{I}_8, \tilde{I}_9$, so we shall focus on the case from now on.

In the rest of this appendix, we compute the log μ corrections $\delta V_s^{\alpha\beta}(0,p)$ corresponding to $\tilde{I}_7, \tilde{I}_8, \tilde{I}_9$. Let us expand the value of Feynman integral (denoted as $X(\Delta)$) by the shift Δ introduced in (B.3) as

$$X(\Delta) = X^{(-1)} \frac{1}{\Delta} + X^{(0)} + \mathcal{O}(\Delta).$$
 (B.7)

⁸We should properly set the ratio v_s/\tilde{v}_s if we want to have $\gamma^{12} = \gamma^{21}$.

We will compute the Feynman integrals of the form in the right most diagram of figure 3, which has $\mu^{4\Delta}$ factor from the interaction terms (B.4). Therefore, we can read off the log μ dependence from the $1/\Delta$ -pole term $X^{(-1)}$ as

$$\mu^{4\Delta} X(\Delta) = X^{(-1)} \frac{1}{\Delta} + 4X^{(-1)} \log \mu + X^{(0)} + \mathcal{O}(\Delta).$$
 (B.8)

At $\kappa \to \infty$, the contributions to anomalous dimensions can be identified with some factors in front of $\log(x_{12}^2)$, see section 2. Carefully treating the $(16/N)^4$ factor as in (4.18) and the normalization of higher spin currents, we would obtain

$$\left(\frac{16}{N}\right)^4 \tilde{I}_7^{\log} = \frac{16}{\pi^2 N} \frac{s}{(2s+1)(2s-1)} D_0^s \log(x_{12}^2), \tag{B.9}$$

$$\left(\frac{16}{N}\right)^4 \tilde{I}_8^{\log} = \frac{16}{\pi^2 N} \frac{s}{(2s+1)(2s-1)} \tilde{D}_0^s \log(x_{12}^2), \qquad (B.10)$$

$$\left(\frac{16}{N}\right)^4 \tilde{I}_9^{\log} = \frac{16}{\pi^2 N} \frac{1}{(2s+1)(2s-1)} \frac{2D_0^s}{s} \log(x_{12}^2) \,. \tag{B.11}$$

Here we have used the results in (B.27), (B.37), (B.40), and (B.41) below.

In order to evaluate integrals, we utilize several formulas; we introduce Feynman parameters as

$$\frac{1}{A_1^{m_1}A_2^{m_2}} = \int_0^1 dx \frac{(1-x)^{m_1-1}x^{m_2-1}}{((1-x)A_1 + xA_2)^{m_1+m_2}} \frac{\Gamma(m_1+m_2)}{\Gamma(m_1)\Gamma(m_2)}.$$
 (B.12)

Moreover, we use the following integrals

$$\int \frac{d^3l}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{1}{(l^2 + \Lambda)^n} = \frac{1}{8\pi^{3/2}} \frac{\Gamma(n - 3/2)}{\Gamma(n)} \left(\frac{1}{\Lambda}\right)^{n - 3/2},$$

$$\int \frac{d^3l}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{l^2}{(l^2 + \Lambda)^n} = \frac{1}{8\pi^{3/2}} \frac{3}{2} \frac{\Gamma(n - 5/2)}{\Gamma(n)} \left(\frac{1}{\Lambda}\right)^{n - 5/2}.$$
(B.13)

B.1 Correction δV_s^{11}

Let us start from δV_s^{11} corresponding to the integral \tilde{I}_7 in (4.15). The integral we need to evaluate is

$$-N \int \frac{d^3k}{(2\pi)^3} \operatorname{tr} \left[F_{\kappa}(-k) A_s^{11}(k) F_{\kappa}(-k) \frac{-i(\not p - \not k)}{|p - k|^2} \right], \qquad (B.14)$$

where $F_{\kappa}(k)$ is given in (B.3) and

$$A_s^{11}(k) = \int \frac{d^3l}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{i(\not k - \not l)}{|k - l|^2} v_s(\hat{l})^s \frac{1}{|l|^2} \frac{1}{|l|^2} = iv_s \int \frac{d^3l}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{(\not k - \not l)(\hat{l})^s}{|l|^4|l - k|^2}.$$
 (B.15)

Let us work on $A_s^{11}(k)$ first. Introducing the Feynman parameter as in (B.12), integration over l can be performed as

$$A_s^{11}(k) = iv_s \int \frac{d^3l}{(2\pi)^3} \int_0^1 dx \frac{\Gamma(3)}{\Gamma(1)\Gamma(2)} \frac{(1-x)(\not{k} - \not{l})(\hat{l})^s}{((l-xk)^2 + x(1-x)k^2)^3} = 2iv_s \int \frac{d^3l'}{(2\pi)^3} \int_0^1 dx \frac{(1-x)((1-x)\not{k} - \not{l}')(\hat{l}' + x\hat{k})^s}{((l')^2 + x(1-x)k^2)^3}.$$
 (B.16)

Notice that the integral vanishes when the number of l' in the numerator is odd and it is proportional to the metric $g^{\mu\nu}$ when the number is even. In particular, the integral vanishes when $(\hat{l}')^2$ is in the numerator due to $\epsilon \cdot \epsilon = 0$. Thus we keep $(l')^0$ and $(l')^2$ terms as

$$((1-x)\not k - \not l')(\hat{l}' + x\hat{k})^s \sim (1-x)\not k(x\hat{k})^s - \not l'\hat{l}'s(x\hat{k})^{s-1} \sim (1-x)\not k(x\hat{k})^s - \frac{1}{3}\hat{\gamma}(l')^2s(x\hat{k})^{s-1}.$$
(B.17)

Here we have replaced $l^{\mu}l^{\nu}$ by $l^{2}g^{\mu\nu}/3$, which is possible in the numerator of the integrand. Using (B.13), we find

$$A_{s}^{11}(k) = i \frac{1}{8\pi^{3/2}} v_{s} \int_{0}^{1} dx \left[\Gamma(\frac{3}{2}) \frac{(1-x)^{2} x^{s} \not{k}(\hat{k})^{s}}{(x(1-x)k^{2})^{3/2}} - \frac{3}{2} \Gamma(\frac{1}{2}) \frac{\frac{1}{3}(1-x)x^{s-1}s\hat{\gamma}(\hat{k})^{s-1}}{(x(1-x)k^{2})^{1/2}} \right]$$
$$= i \frac{1}{16\pi} v_{s} \frac{\Gamma(\frac{3}{2})\Gamma(s-\frac{1}{2})}{\Gamma(s+1)} \left[\frac{\not{k}(\hat{k})^{s}}{|k|^{3}} - s \frac{\hat{\gamma}(\hat{k})^{s-1}}{|k|} \right].$$
(B.18)

Putting (B.18) into (B.14), there are two terms in the integral over k. One of them is proportional to

$$\int \frac{d^3k}{(2\pi)^3} \operatorname{tr}\left[\frac{k}{|k|^{1+2\Delta}} \frac{k(\hat{k})^s}{|k|^3} \frac{k}{|k|^{1+2\Delta}} \frac{(\not\!p-k)}{|p-k|^2}\right] = \int \frac{d^3k}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{(\hat{k})^s \operatorname{tr}[k(\not\!p-k)]}{|k|^{3+4\Delta}|p-k|^2}$$
$$= \int \frac{d^3k}{(2\pi)^3} \int_0^1 dx \frac{\Gamma(\frac{5}{2}+2\Delta)}{\Gamma(\frac{3}{2}+2\Delta)} \frac{(1-x)^{1/2+2\Delta}(\hat{k})^s \operatorname{tr}[k(\not\!p-k)]}{((k-xp)^2+x(1-x)p^2)^{5/2+2\Delta}}.$$
(B.19)

We change k' = k + xp and integrate over k'. The terms contributing to the $1/\Delta$ -pole are

$$(\hat{k}' + x\hat{p})^{s} \operatorname{tr}[(\not{k}' + x\not{p})((1-x)\not{p} - \not{k}')] \sim 2s(1-2x)\hat{k}'(x\hat{p})^{s-1}k' \cdot p - 2(x\hat{p})^{s}|k'|^{2} \\ \sim \frac{2}{3}(sx^{s-1} - (2s+3)x^{s})(\hat{p})^{s}|k'|^{2}.$$
(B.20)

Thus the $1/\Delta$ -pole term is

$$\frac{1}{2\Delta} \frac{1}{4\pi^2} (\hat{p})^s \left[s \frac{\Gamma(\frac{3}{2})\Gamma(s)}{\Gamma(s+\frac{3}{2})} - (2s+3) \frac{\Gamma(\frac{3}{2})\Gamma(s+1)}{\Gamma(s+\frac{5}{2})} \right] = -\frac{1}{2\Delta} \frac{1}{4\pi^2} s(\hat{p})^s \frac{\Gamma(\frac{3}{2})\Gamma(s)}{\Gamma(s+\frac{3}{2})} .$$
(B.21)

The other integral is

$$\int \frac{d^3k}{(2\pi)^3} \operatorname{tr}\left[\frac{\not\!\!\!\!k}{|k|^{1+2\Delta}} \frac{\hat{\gamma}(\hat{k})^{s-1}}{|k|} \frac{\not\!\!\!k}{|k|^{1+2\Delta}} \frac{(\not\!\!\!p - \not\!\!\!k)}{|p-k|^2}\right] = \int \frac{d^3k}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{(\hat{k})^{s-1}(-2|k|^2(\hat{p}+\hat{k}) + 4\hat{k}k \cdot p)}{|k|^{3+4\Delta}|p-k|^2} \tag{B.22}$$

up to overall factor. The first term becomes

$$-2\int \frac{d^{3}k}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{(\hat{k})^{s-1}(\hat{p}+\hat{k})}{|k|^{1+4\Delta}|p-k|^{2}}$$
$$= -2\int \frac{d^{3}k'}{(2\pi)^{3}} \int_{0}^{1} dx \frac{\Gamma(\frac{3}{2}+2\Delta)}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}+2\Delta)} \frac{(1-x)^{-1/2+2\Delta}(\hat{k}'+x\hat{p})^{s-1}((1+x)\hat{p}+\hat{k}')}{((k')^{2}+x(1-x)p^{2})^{3/2+2\Delta}}.$$
 (B.23)

The $1/\Delta$ -pole term is then

$$-\frac{1}{2\Delta}\frac{1}{4\pi^2}(\hat{p})^s \left[\frac{\Gamma(s)\Gamma(\frac{1}{2})}{\Gamma(s+\frac{1}{2})} + \frac{\Gamma(s+1)\Gamma(\frac{1}{2})}{\Gamma(s+\frac{3}{2})}\right].$$
 (B.24)

The second term is

$$4\int \frac{d^{3}k}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{(\hat{k})^{s}k \cdot p}{|k|^{3+4\Delta}|p-k|^{2}} = 4\int \frac{d^{3}k'}{(2\pi)^{3}} \int_{0}^{1} dx \frac{\Gamma(\frac{5}{2}+2\Delta)}{\Gamma(\frac{3}{2}+2\Delta)} \frac{(1-x)^{1/2+2\Delta}(\hat{k}'+x\hat{p})^{s}(k'+xp) \cdot p}{((k')^{2}+x(1-x)p^{2})^{5/2+2\Delta}}.$$
 (B.25)

The singular term arises as

$$\frac{1}{2\Delta} \frac{1}{2\pi^2} s \hat{p}^s \frac{\Gamma(\frac{3}{2})\Gamma(s)}{\Gamma(s+\frac{3}{2})}, \qquad (B.26)$$

which cancels with the second term in (B.24). Summing over all contributions, we find

$$\delta V_s^{11}(0,p) = \frac{16}{\pi^2 N} \frac{s}{(2s+1)(2s-1)} V_{1,s}^0(0,p) \log \mu \,. \tag{B.27}$$

B.2 Correction δV_s^{22}

We move to δV_s^{22} corresponding to the integral \tilde{I}_8 in (4.16). We need to compute the Feynman integral

$$N \int \frac{d^3k}{(2\pi)^3} F_{\kappa}(k) A_s^{22}(k) F_{\kappa}(k) \frac{1}{|p-k|^2}, \qquad (B.28)$$

where

$$A_s^{22}(k) = \int \frac{d^3l}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{il}{|l|^2} \tilde{v}_s \hat{\gamma}(\hat{l})^{s-1} \frac{il}{|l|^2} \frac{1}{|k-l|^2} = -\tilde{v}_s \int \frac{d^3l}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{l' \hat{\gamma} l'(\hat{l})^{s-1}}{|l|^4 |l-k|^2} \,. \tag{B.29}$$

We first evaluate $A_s^{22}(k)$, which can be rewritten as

$$A_s^{22}(k) = \tilde{v}_s \int \frac{d^3l}{(2\pi)^3} \left[\frac{\hat{\gamma}(\hat{l})^{s-1}}{|l|^2 |l-k|^2} - 2\frac{l(\hat{l})^s}{|l|^4 |l-k|^2} \right].$$
 (B.30)

The first term becomes

$$\begin{split} \tilde{v}_s \int \frac{d^3l'}{(2\pi)^3} \int_0^1 dx \frac{\hat{\gamma}(\hat{l}' + x\hat{k})^{s-1}}{((l')^2 + x(1-x)k^2)^2} &= \tilde{v}_s \frac{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2})}{8\pi^{3/2}} \int_0^1 dx \frac{\hat{\gamma}(x\hat{k})^{s-1}}{(x(1-x)k^2)^{1/2}} \\ &= \tilde{v}_s \frac{1}{8\pi} \frac{\Gamma(s - \frac{1}{2})\Gamma(\frac{1}{2})}{\Gamma(s)} \frac{\hat{\gamma}(\hat{k})^{s-1}}{|k|} \,, \end{split}$$
(B.31)

and the second term is

$$\begin{split} &-2\tilde{v}_s \int \frac{d^3l'}{(2\pi)^3} \int_0^1 dx \Gamma(3) \frac{(1-x)(l'+xk)(\hat{l}'+x\hat{k})^s}{((l')^2+x(1-x)k^2)^3} \\ &\sim -4\tilde{v}_s \int \frac{d^3l'}{(2\pi)^3} \int_0^1 dx \frac{(1-x)(x^{s+1}k(\hat{k})^s+\frac{1}{3}sx^{s-1}\hat{\gamma}(\hat{k})^{s-1}(l')^2)}{((l')^2+x(1-x)k^2)^3} \end{split}$$
(B.32)
$$&= -4\tilde{v}_s \frac{1}{8\pi^{3/2}} \int_0^1 dx \left[\frac{(1-x)x^{s+1}k(\hat{k})^s}{(x(1-x)k^2)^{3/2}} \frac{\Gamma(\frac{3}{2})}{\Gamma(3)} + \frac{\frac{1}{3}s(1-x)x^{s-1}\hat{\gamma}(\hat{k})^{s-1}}{(x(1-x)k^2)^{1/2}} \frac{3}{2} \frac{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2})}{\Gamma(3)} \right] \\ &= -\tilde{v}_s \frac{1}{8\pi} \left[\frac{k(\hat{k})^s}{|k|^3} \frac{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2})\Gamma(s+\frac{1}{2})}{\Gamma(s+1)} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\hat{\gamma}(\hat{k})^{s-1}}{|k|} \frac{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2})\Gamma(s-\frac{1}{2})}{\Gamma(s)} \right] . \end{split}$$

Collecting the two contributions, we find

There are two terms in $A_s^{22}(k)$, and we start from the contribution to δV_s^{22} from the first term. We compute

$$\int \frac{d^3k}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{k}{|k|^{1+2\Delta}} \frac{k(\hat{k})^s}{|k|^3} \frac{k}{|k|^{1+2\Delta}} \frac{1}{|p-k|^2} = \int \frac{d^3k}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{k(\hat{k})^s}{|k|^{3+4\Delta}|p-k|^2}$$
$$= \frac{\Gamma(\frac{5}{2}+2\Delta)}{\Gamma(\frac{3}{2}+2\Delta)} \int_0^1 dx \int \frac{d^3k'}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{(1-x)^{1/2+2\Delta}(k'+xp)(\hat{k}'+xp)}{((k')^2+x(1-x)p^2)^{5/2+2\Delta}}$$
$$(B.34)$$
$$\sim \frac{\Gamma(\frac{5}{2}+2\Delta)}{\Gamma(\frac{3}{2}+2\Delta)} \int_0^1 dx \int \frac{d^3k'}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{(1-x)^{1/2+2\Delta}k's\hat{k}'(xp)^{s-1}}{((k')^2+x(1-x)p^2)^{5/2+2\Delta}} = \frac{1}{2\Delta} \frac{1}{8\pi^2} \frac{\Gamma(\frac{3}{2})\Gamma(s+1)}{\Gamma(s+\frac{3}{2})} \hat{\gamma}(p)^{s-1}.$$

For the contribution from the second term, we find

$$\int \frac{d^3k}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{k}{|k|^{1+2\Delta}} \frac{\hat{\gamma}(\hat{k})^{s-1}}{|k|} \frac{k}{|k|^{1+2\Delta}} \frac{1}{|p-k|^2} = -\int \frac{d^3k}{(2\pi)^3} \left[\frac{\hat{\gamma}(\hat{k})^{s-1}}{|k|^{1+4\Delta}|p-k|^2} - 2\frac{k(\hat{k})^s}{|k|^{3+4\Delta}|p-k|^2} \right].$$
(B.35)

The second term is twice of (B.34) and the first term becomes

$$-\int \frac{d^3k}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{\hat{\gamma}(\hat{k})^{s-1}}{|k|^{1+4\Delta}|p-k|^2} = -\hat{\gamma} \frac{\Gamma(\frac{3}{2}+2\Delta)}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}+2\Delta)} \int_0^1 dx \int \frac{d^3k'}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{(1-x)^{-1/2+2\Delta}(\hat{k}'+x\hat{p})^{s-1}}{((k')^2+x(1-x)p^2)^{3/2+2\Delta}} \\ = -\frac{1}{2\Delta} \frac{1}{8\pi^2} \frac{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2})\Gamma(s)}{\Gamma(s+\frac{1}{2})} \hat{\gamma}(\hat{p})^{s-1} \,.$$
(B.36)

Thus we find

$$\delta V_s^{22}(0,p) = \frac{16}{\pi^2 N} \frac{s}{(2s+1)(2s-1)} V_{2,s}^0(0,p) \log \mu \,. \tag{B.37}$$

B.3 Corrections δV_s^{12} and δV_s^{21}

Finally we evaluate δV_s^{12} and δV_s^{21} corresponding to the integral \tilde{I}_9 in (4.17). The integrals are

$$N \int \frac{d^3k}{(2\pi)^3} F_{\kappa}(k) A_s^{11}(k) F_{\kappa}(k) \frac{1}{|p-k|^2}, \qquad (B.38)$$

$$-N \int \frac{d^3k}{(2\pi)^3} \operatorname{tr} \left[F_{\kappa}(-k) A_s^{22}(k) F_{\kappa}(-k) \frac{-i(\not p - \not k)}{|p - k|^2} \right], \qquad (B.39)$$

respectively. Here $A_s^{11}(k)$ and $A_s^{22}(k)$ were defined in (B.15) and (B.30). The $1/\Delta$ -pole structures can be read off from the results in the previous subsections. The final expressions are

$$\delta V_s^{12}(0,p) = \frac{16}{N\pi^2} \frac{1}{(2s-1)(2s+1)} (\frac{i}{2} v_s \hat{\gamma}(\hat{p})^{s-1}) \log \mu, \qquad (B.40)$$

$$\delta V_s^{21}(0,p) = \frac{16}{N\pi^2} \frac{1}{(2s-1)(2s+1)} (-2i\tilde{v}_s(\hat{p})^s) \log \mu \,. \tag{B.41}$$

As mentioned in footnote 8, we need to change the relative normalization of vertices $V_{1,s}^0(0,p)$ and $V_{2,s}^0(0,p)$ in (B.5) so as to obtain $\gamma_{12} = \gamma_{21}$.

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- Y. Hikida, The masses of higher spin fields on AdS₄ and conformal perturbation theory, Phys. Rev. D 94 (2016) 026004 [arXiv:1601.01784] [INSPIRE].
- Y. Hikida and T. Wada, Anomalous dimensions of higher spin currents in large-N CFTs, JHEP 01 (2017) 032 [arXiv:1610.05878] [INSPIRE].
- [3] D.J. Gross and A. Neveu, Dynamical symmetry breaking in asymptotically free field theories, Phys. Rev. D 10 (1974) 3235 [INSPIRE].
- [4] M. Moshe and J. Zinn-Justin, Quantum field theory in the large-N limit: a review, Phys. Rept. 385 (2003) 69 [hep-th/0306133] [INSPIRE].
- [5] M.A. Vasiliev, Higher spin gauge theories in four-dimensions, three-dimensions and two-dimensions, Int. J. Mod. Phys. D 5 (1996) 763 [hep-th/9611024] [INSPIRE].
- [6] M.A. Vasiliev, Higher spin gauge theories: star product and AdS space, hep-th/9910096 [INSPIRE].
- M.A. Vasiliev, Nonlinear equations for symmetric massless higher spin fields in (A)dS_d, Phys. Lett. B 567 (2003) 139 [hep-th/0304049] [INSPIRE].
- [8] I.R. Klebanov and A.M. Polyakov, AdS dual of the critical O(N) vector model, Phys. Lett. B 550 (2002) 213 [hep-th/0210114] [INSPIRE].
- [9] R.G. Leigh and A.C. Petkou, Holography of the N = 1 higher spin theory on AdS₄, JHEP 06 (2003) 011 [hep-th/0304217] [INSPIRE].

- [10] E. Sezgin and P. Sundell, Holography in 4D (super) higher spin theories and a test via cubic scalar couplings, JHEP 07 (2005) 044 [hep-th/0305040] [INSPIRE].
- [11] D.J. Gross, High-energy symmetries of string theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 60 (1988) 1229
 [INSPIRE].
- [12] S. Giombi, S. Minwalla, S. Prakash, S.P. Trivedi, S.R. Wadia and X. Yin, Chern-Simons theory with vector fermion matter, Eur. Phys. J. C 72 (2012) 2112 [arXiv:1110.4386] [INSPIRE].
- [13] O. Aharony, G. Gur-Ari and R. Yacoby, D = 3 bosonic vector models coupled to Chern-Simons gauge theories, JHEP 03 (2012) 037 [arXiv:1110.4382] [INSPIRE].
- [14] J. Maldacena and A. Zhiboedov, Constraining conformal field theories with a slightly broken higher spin symmetry, Class. Quant. Grav. 30 (2013) 104003 [arXiv:1204.3882] [INSPIRE].
- [15] S. Giombi, V. Gurucharan, V. Kirilin, S. Prakash and E. Skvortsov, On the higher-spin spectrum in large-N Chern-Simons vector models, JHEP 01 (2017) 058 [arXiv:1610.08472] [INSPIRE].
- [16] E. Witten, Multitrace operators, boundary conditions and AdS/CFT correspondence, hep-th/0112258 [INSPIRE].
- [17] T. Muta and D.S. Popovic, Anomalous dimensions of composite operators in the Gross-Neveu model in two + ϵ dimensions, Prog. Theor. Phys. 57 (1977) 1705 [INSPIRE].
- [18] C.-M. Chang, S. Minwalla, T. Sharma and X. Yin, ABJ triality: from higher spin fields to strings, J. Phys. A 46 (2013) 214009 [arXiv:1207.4485] [INSPIRE].
- [19] T. Hartman and L. Rastelli, Double-trace deformations, mixed boundary conditions and functional determinants in AdS/CFT, JHEP 01 (2008) 019 [hep-th/0602106] [INSPIRE].
- [20] S. Giombi and X. Yin, On higher spin gauge theory and the critical O(N) model, Phys. Rev. D 85 (2012) 086005 [arXiv:1105.4011] [INSPIRE].
- [21] T. Creutzig and Y. Hikida, Higgs phenomenon for higher spin fields on AdS₃, JHEP 10 (2015) 164 [arXiv:1506.04465] [INSPIRE].
- [22] D. Anselmi, Higher spin current multiplets in operator product expansions, Class. Quant. Grav. 17 (2000) 1383 [hep-th/9906167] [INSPIRE].
- [23] M.R. Gaberdiel, C. Peng and I.G. Zadeh, *Higgsing the stringy higher spin symmetry*, *JHEP* 10 (2015) 101 [arXiv:1506.02045] [INSPIRE].
- [24] K. Diab, L. Fei, S. Giombi, I.R. Klebanov and G. Tarnopolsky, On C_J and C_T in the Gross-Neveu and O(N) models, J. Phys. A 49 (2016) 405402 [arXiv:1601.07198] [INSPIRE].
- [25] K. Lang and W. Rühl, The critical $O(N) \sigma$ -model at dimensions 2 < d < 4: fusion coefficients and anomalous dimensions, Nucl. Phys. B 400 (1993) 597 [INSPIRE].
- [26] E.D. Skvortsov, On (un)broken higher-spin symmetry in vector models, in Proceedings, International Workshop on Higher Spin Gauge Theories, Singapore, 4–6 November 2015, pg. 103 [arXiv:1512.05994] [INSPIRE].
- [27] S. Giombi and V. Kirilin, Anomalous dimensions in CFT with weakly broken higher spin symmetry, JHEP 11 (2016) 068 [arXiv:1601.01310] [INSPIRE].
- [28] A.N. Manashov and E.D. Skvortsov, Higher-spin currents in the Gross-Neveu model at 1/n², JHEP 01 (2017) 132 [arXiv:1610.06938] [INSPIRE].
- [29] E. Witten, Anti-de Sitter space and holography, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 253
 [hep-th/9802150] [INSPIRE].

- [30] D.Z. Freedman, S.D. Mathur, A. Matusis and L. Rastelli, Correlation functions in the CFT_d/AdS_{d+1} correspondence, Nucl. Phys. B 546 (1999) 96 [hep-th/9804058] [INSPIRE].
- [31] T. Kawano and K. Okuyama, Spinor exchange in AdS_{d+1}, Nucl. Phys. B 565 (2000) 427
 [hep-th/9905130] [INSPIRE].
- [32] O. Aharony, M. Berkooz and B. Katz, Non-local effects of multi-trace deformations in the AdS/CFT correspondence, JHEP 10 (2005) 097 [hep-th/0504177] [INSPIRE].
- [33] Y. Hikida and P.B. Rønne, Marginal deformations and the Higgs phenomenon in higher spin AdS₃ holography, JHEP 07 (2015) 125 [arXiv:1503.03870] [INSPIRE].
- [34] M. Henningson and K. Sfetsos, Spinors and the AdS/CFT correspondence, Phys. Lett. B 431 (1998) 63 [hep-th/9803251] [INSPIRE].
- [35] W. Mueck and K.S. Viswanathan, Conformal field theory correlators from classical field theory on anti-de Sitter space. 2. Vector and spinor fields, Phys. Rev. D 58 (1998) 106006 [hep-th/9805145] [INSPIRE].
- [36] O. Aharony, O. Bergman, D.L. Jafferis and J. Maldacena, N = 6 superconformal Chern-Simons-matter theories, M2-branes and their gravity duals, JHEP 10 (2008) 091
 [arXiv:0806.1218] [INSPIRE].
- [37] O. Aharony, O. Bergman and D.L. Jafferis, Fractional M2-branes, JHEP 11 (2008) 043
 [arXiv:0807.4924] [INSPIRE].
- [38] M.R. Gaberdiel and R. Gopakumar, Large N = 4 holography, JHEP **09** (2013) 036 [arXiv:1305.4181] [INSPIRE].
- [39] M.R. Gaberdiel and R. Gopakumar, Higher spins and strings, JHEP 11 (2014) 044 [arXiv:1406.6103] [INSPIRE].
- [40] T. Creutzig, Y. Hikida and P.B. Ronne, Extended higher spin holography and Grassmannian models, JHEP 11 (2013) 038 [arXiv:1306.0466] [INSPIRE].
- [41] T. Creutzig, Y. Hikida and P.B. Ronne, Higher spin AdS₃ holography with extended supersymmetry, JHEP 10 (2014) 163 [arXiv:1406.1521] [INSPIRE].
- [42] S. Gwak, E. Joung, K. Mkrtchyan and S.-J. Rey, Rainbow vacua of colored higher-spin (A)dS₃ gravity, JHEP 05 (2016) 150 [arXiv:1511.05975] [INSPIRE].
- [43] L. Girardello, M. Porrati and A. Zaffaroni, 3D interacting CFTs and generalized Higgs phenomenon in higher spin theories on AdS, Phys. Lett. B 561 (2003) 289 [hep-th/0212181]
 [INSPIRE].
- [44] A.N. Vasiliev and M. Yu. Nalimov, Analog of dimensional regularization for calculation of the renormalization group functions in the 1/n expansion for arbitrary dimension of space, Theor. Math. Phys. 55 (1983) 423 [Teor. Mat. Fiz. 55 (1983) 163] [INSPIRE].
- [45] A.N. Vasiliev and A.S. Stepanenko, A method of calculating the critical dimensions of composite operators in the massless nonlinear σ-model, Theor. Math. Phys. 94 (1993) 471
 [Teor. Mat. Fiz. 95 (1993) 160] [INSPIRE].
- [46] S.E. Derkachov and A.N. Manashov, The simple scheme for the calculation of the anomalous dimensions of composite operators in the 1/N expansion, Nucl. Phys. B 522 (1998) 301 [hep-th/9710015] [INSPIRE].
- [47] M. Günaydin, E.D. Skvortsov and T. Tran, Exceptional F(4) higher-spin theory in AdS₆ at one-loop and other tests of duality, JHEP 11 (2016) 168 [arXiv:1608.07582] [INSPIRE].
- [48] S. Giombi, I.R. Klebanov and Z.M. Tan, *The ABC of higher-spin AdS/CFT*, arXiv:1608.07611 [INSPIRE].